Brackets in multicontact geometry and multisymplectization

June 12, 2025

Manuel de León

Instituto de Ciencias Matemáticas (ICMAT-CSIC).

C. Nicolás Cabrera, 13-15, Fuencarral-El Pardo, 28049 Madrid, Spain.

Real Academia de Ciencias Exactas, Físicas y Naturales de España.

C. Valverde, 22, 28004 Madrid, Spain.

e-mail: mdeleon@icmat.es - orcid: 0000-0002-8028-2348

Rubén Izquierdo-López

Escuela Superior de Ingeniería y Tecnología, Universidad Internacional de La Rioja

Logroño, Spain

e-mail: ruben.izquierdo@unir.net — orcid: 0009-0007-8747-344X

Xavier Rivas

Department of Computer Engineering and Mathematics, Universitat Rovira i Virgili Avinguda Països Catalans 26, 43007 Tarragona, Spain

e-mail: xavier.rivas@urv.cat — orcid: 0000-0002-4175-5157

Abstract

In this paper we introduce a graded bracket of forms on multicontact manifolds. This bracket satisfies a graded Jacobi identity as well as two different versions of the Leibniz rule, one of them being a weak Leibniz rule, extending the well-known notions in contact geometry. In addition, we develop the multisymplectization of multicontact structures to relate these brackets to the ones present in multisymplectic geometry and obtain the field equations in an abstract context. The Jacobi bracket also permits to study the evolution of observables and study the dissipation phenomena, which we also address. Finally, we apply the results to classical dissipative field theories.

Keywords: Multicontact geometry, Poisson brackets, Jacobi brackets, graded Lie algebras.

MSC2020 codes: Primary: 53D42, 70S20. Secondary: 35B06, 53D10, 53Z05, 70S10.

Authors' contributions: All authors contributed to the study conception and design. The manuscript was written and revised by all authors. All authors read and approved the final version.

Competing Interests: The authors have no competing interests to declare.

Contents

1	Introduction	2			
2	Brackets induced by a differential n-form				
3	Multicontact structures and multisymplectization				
	3.1 General (pre-)multisymplectizations	8			
	3.2 Multisymplectizations of multicontact manifolds	13			
4	The # mapping and the Reeb multivector field	17			
5	Multicontact field equations				
	5.1 General multicontact Hamilton-de Donder-Weyl equations and variational multicontact	ct			
	manifolds	20			
	5.2 Dissipated forms	23			
6	Dissipative field theories	24			
7	Conclusions and further work				
A	Acknowledgments	28			
\mathbf{R}	eferences 29				

1 Introduction

The existence of brackets in classical field theory analogous to Poisson or Jacobi brackets in mechanics [2, 17, 30, 36] is of extreme importance. On the one hand, they are useful to show the evolution of any observable quantity and, on the other hand, they are the key to obtain the quantization of the given system, following Dirac's ideas. Indeed, the brackets bring the bridge between the geometry of phase space and the algebra of observables.

To our knowledge, the geometric version of Poisson brackets were first defined in [8] for the multisymplectic formalism of classical field theories, just as a continuation of the study of abstract multisymplectic manifolds carried in [9]. An important property of these brackets, already discussed in the work by Cantrijn, Ibort and de León, is that it induces a Lie algebra structure on $\Omega_H(M)/\mathrm{d}\Omega(M)$, the space of Hamiltonian forms modulo exact forms. These constructions have subsequently been used by other authors [4, 5, 20, 26], and more recently developed within a more general and geometrical framework [6, 13, 39] (see also a recent approach to classical field theories based on smooth sets of fields [28]).

On the other hand, dissipative field theories have recently been described by introducing the concept of multicontact structures [11, 12], which generalize the usual contact ones. However, a bracket in multicontact field theories analogue to the Jacobi bracket in contact geometry is yet to be defined and studied. This is the first main goal of the present paper.

As we approached this problem, we discovered that a graded bracket can be associated to an arbitrary differential form on any smooth manifold, say $\Theta \in \Omega^n(M)$. The main ingredient is a special kind of multivector fields on the given manifold, which we call infinitesimal conformal transformations of the given form Θ . This definition mimics the situation on contact manifolds and their infinitesimal conformal transformations. These multivector fields are then used to define the space of conformal Hamiltonian forms and the corresponding graded Jacobi bracket. This bracket is graded-skew-symmetric and satisfies the usual graded Jacobi identity (see Corollary 2.8). Furthermore, two different versions of the Leibniz rule appear: one corresponding to the Gerstenhaber algebra structure [27] of infinitesimal conformal transformations (see Corollary 2.11) and a second one generalizing the weak Leibniz rule present in contact geometry (see Proposition 2.12).

To study the relationship between these brackets and the graded Poisson brackets of multisymplectic geometry, we extensively develop a pre-multisymplectization procedure extending the one already known for contact structures which works on any manifold equipped with an n-form Θ . An interesting fact is that, as a consequence of our study, we can introduce a more general definition of multicontact form that the previously one defined in [10, 12]). Indeed, an n-form Θ is called multicontact if the following conditions hold:

$$\ker_1 \Theta \cap \ker_1 d\Theta = \{0\}$$
 and $\ker_1 d\Theta \neq \{0\}$,

being the conditions that guarantee that its canonical pre-multisymplectization (see Definition 3.5) is, in fact, a multisymplectization. It is worth mentioning that the second property $\ker_1 d\Theta \neq \{0\}$ besides avoiding the possibility that $d\Theta = 0$ (which would recover the case of a (pre)-multisymplectic form) is a technical condition that is used on several steps of our study.

The second main goal of the present paper is to define dynamics, namely the action dependent Hamilton–De Donder–Weyl equations on an arbitrary multicontact manifold. Our approach is to identify the geometric objects that generalize the Jacobi bivector field and the Reeb vector field of contact manifolds. Indeed, we introduce the corresponding # mapping (the generalization of the bivector field) and a class of multivector fields that we define (making an abuse of notation) as the Reeb multivector field (see Definition 4.2). This machinery allows us to obtain a new expression for the bracket of forms on a multicontact manifold similar to the case of the Jacobi bracket in contact geometry.

In order to introduce dynamics, several steps need to be made. Firstly, we make a finer definition of the Reeb multivector field so that contracting with it is well defined for a wider family of forms. Secondly, we define the so-called Hamiltonian subbundle of forms and identify then the good Hamiltonians, which are the ones that allow for a definition of the dissipation form (see [10]), which has now a more clear and simple definition. Now, given such a good Hamiltonian, one can obtain the Hamilton-de Donder-Weyl equations; more insights are obtained when the multicontact form is of variational type, where a tensor-like obstruction for every Hamiltonian to be a good Hamiltonian is identified (see Theorem 5.12). We also consider the evolution of forms and the notion of dissipated forms. The study ends with an application of the above theory to dissipative field theories.

In order to give a more complete view, we want to comment that the dissipative field equations can be described by other geometric structures, called k-contact [19, 22, 24] and k-cocontact [32] in the same way that the k-symplectic and k-cosymplectic geometries [18] describe the classical field equations. Although the field equations are obtained with both formalisms, there is no known definition of brackets in these cases, which leaves multicontact structures to be more suitable for the study of action dependent field theories. Up to our knowledge, the only brackets defined in the k-contact setting was introduced in [19] for vector-valued functions in order to study systems of ordinary differential equations.

The paper is structured as follows. Section 2 is devoted to define brackets for arbitrary forms on a manifold. The multisymplectization method is developed in Section 3 to find the relations between these graded Jacobi brackets and graded Poisson brackets. In this section we also use the theory developed to motivate the definition of multicontact manifolds. We investigate the definition of the # mapping and the Reeb multivector field on arbitrary multicontact manifolds in Section 4, where we use them to give a different description of the brackets. These structures are then used in Section 5 to define dynamics on general multicontact manifolds. Section 6 is devoted to apply the obtained results to the case of classical dissipative field theories. The paper finishes with some conclusions and further work.

Notation and conventions

We will use the following notations and conventions throughout the paper; they are collected here to facilitate the reading.

- All manifolds are assumed \mathscr{C}^{∞} -smooth, finite dimensional, Hausdorff and second countable.
- Einstein's summation convention is assumed throughout the text, unless stated otherwise.
- $-\bigvee_{p} M$ denotes the vector bundle of p-vectors on $M, \bigwedge^{p} TM$.
- $-\mathfrak{X}^{p}(M) = \Gamma\left(\bigvee_{p} M\right)$ denotes the space of all multivector fields of order p.
- $-\bigwedge^a M$ denotes the vector bundle of a-forms on $M, \bigwedge^a T^*M$.
- $-\Omega^a(M) = \Gamma(\bigwedge^a M)$ denotes the space of all a-forms on M.
- $[\cdot, \cdot]$ denotes the Schouten-Nijenhuis bracket on multivector fields. We use the sign conventions of [31].
- $-\mathscr{L}_U\alpha = \mathrm{d}\iota_U\alpha (-1)^p\iota\mathrm{d}\alpha$, for $U \in \mathfrak{X}^p(M)$, $\alpha \in \Omega^a(M)$ denotes the Lie derivative along multivector fields. For a proof of its main properties, we refer to [21].
- For a subbundle $K \subseteq \bigvee_{p} M$, and for $a \geq p$, we denote by

$$K^{\circ,a} = \{ \alpha \in \bigwedge^a M \mid \iota_K \alpha = 0 \}$$

the annihilator of order a of K.

– Similarly, for a subbundle $S \subseteq \bigwedge^a M$, and $p \leq a$ we denote by

$$S^{\circ,p} = \{ U \in \bigvee_{p} M \mid \iota_{U} S = 0 \}$$

the annihilator of order p of S.

- Given a form $\Theta \in \Omega^n(M)$, we denote $\ker_p \Theta = \{u \in \bigvee_p M \mid \iota_u \Theta = 0\}$.
- $-\mathbb{R}_{\times}$ denotes $\mathbb{R}\setminus\{0\}$.

2 Brackets induced by a differential *n*-form

Let M be a finite dimensional smooth manifold and $\Theta \in \Omega^n(M)$ be a smooth n-form on M. The following definition is an extension of the so-called conformal infinitesimal symmetries in contact geometry.

Definition 2.1. For $p \leq n$, a multivector field $X \in \mathfrak{X}^p(M)$ is said to be an **infinitesimal** conformal transformation of Θ if there exists a multivector field $V \in \mathfrak{X}^{p-1}(M)$ such that

$$\mathcal{L}_X\Theta = \iota_V\Theta$$
.

where $\mathscr{L}_X\Theta = d\iota_X\Theta - (-1)^p\iota_Xd\Theta$ denotes the Lie derivative of Θ with respect to the multivector field X (see [21, 31, 35] for details).

Remark 2.2. If p = 1 and $X \in \mathfrak{X}(M)$ is an infinitesimal conformal transformation, we have that there exists a certain 0-multivector field, namely a function $g \in \mathscr{C}^{\infty}(M)$, such that

$$\mathcal{L}_X\Theta = q \cdot \Theta$$
,

so that we recover the usual notion of an infinitesimal conformal symmetry.

Definition 2.3. A conformal Hamiltonian form is an (n-p)-form $\alpha \in \Omega^{n-p}(M)$ such that

$$\iota_{X_{\alpha}}\Theta = -\alpha\,,$$

for some infinitesimal conformal transformation $X_{\alpha} \in \mathfrak{X}^{p}(M)$. The space of conformal Hamiltonian a-forms is denoted by $\Omega^{a}_{H}(M,\Theta)$. If the form to be used is clear form the context we shall simply use $\Omega^{a}_{H}(M)$.

Note that an (n-p)-form α is conformal Hamiltonian if and only if there exist multivector fields $X_{\alpha} \in \mathfrak{X}^{p}(M)$ and $V_{\alpha} \in \mathfrak{X}^{p-1}(M)$ such that

$$\iota_{X_{\alpha}}\Theta = -\alpha \quad \text{and} \quad \iota_{X_{\alpha}}d\Theta = (-1)^{p+1}(d\alpha + \iota_{V_{\alpha}}\Theta).$$
 (2.1)

The following result will allow us to define a bracket on the space of conformal Hamiltonian forms.

Theorem 2.4. Let $\alpha \in \Omega^{n-p}(M)$ and $\beta \in \Omega^{n-q}(M)$ be conformal Hamiltonian forms and let $X_{\alpha}, V_{\alpha}, X_{\beta}$ and V_{β} be multivector fields satisfying

$$\iota_{X_{\alpha}}\Theta = -\alpha, \qquad \iota_{X_{\alpha}}d\Theta = (-1)^{p+1}(d\alpha + \iota_{V_{\alpha}}\Theta),$$

and

$$\iota_{X_{\beta}}\Theta = -\beta, \qquad \iota_{X_{\beta}}d\Theta = (-1)^{q+1}(d\beta + \iota_{V_{\beta}}\Theta).$$

Then, the expression

$$-\iota_{[X_{\alpha},X_{\beta}]}\Theta$$

only depends on α and β and is also a conformal Hamiltonian form.

Proof. Let us start by checking independence on the choice of multivector fields. We have (see [21])

$$\begin{split} -\iota_{[X_{\alpha},X_{\beta}]}\Theta &= -(-1)^{(p-1)q} \mathcal{L}_{X_{\alpha}} \iota_{X_{\beta}}\Theta + \iota_{X_{\beta}} \mathcal{L}_{X_{\alpha}}\Theta \\ &= -(-1)^{(p-1)q} \mathcal{L}_{X_{\alpha}} \iota_{X_{\beta}}\Theta + \iota_{X_{\beta}} \iota_{V_{\alpha}}\Theta \\ &= (-1)^{(p-1)q} (\iota_{V_{\alpha}} - \mathcal{L}_{X_{\alpha}}) \iota_{X_{\beta}}\Theta \\ &= (-1)^{(p-1)q} (\mathcal{L}_{X_{\alpha}} - \iota_{V_{\alpha}})\beta \,, \end{split}$$

which implies that is independent on the choice of X_{β}, V_{β} . A symmetric argument proves the same result for X_{α}, V_{α} .

To see that it is again a conformal Hamiltonian form it is enough to show that $[X_{\alpha}, X_{\beta}]$ is again an infinitesimal conformal transformation for Θ . Indeed,

$$\begin{split} \mathscr{L}_{[X_{\alpha},X_{\beta}]}\Theta &= (-1)^{(p-1)(q-1)}\mathscr{L}_{X_{\alpha}}\mathscr{L}_{X_{\beta}}\Theta - \mathscr{L}_{X_{\beta}}\mathscr{L}_{X_{\alpha}}\Theta \\ &= (-1)^{(p-1)(q-1)}\mathscr{L}_{X_{\alpha}}\iota_{V_{\beta}}\Theta - \mathscr{L}_{X_{\beta}}\iota_{V_{\alpha}}\Theta \\ &= \iota_{[X_{\alpha},V_{\beta}]}\Theta + \iota_{V_{\beta}}\mathscr{L}_{X_{\alpha}}\Theta - (-1)^{(p-1)(q-1)}(\iota_{[X_{\beta},V_{\alpha}]}\Theta + \iota_{V_{\alpha}}\mathscr{L}_{X_{\beta}}\Theta) \\ &= \iota_{[X_{\alpha},V_{\beta}]}\Theta + \iota_{V_{\beta}}\iota_{V_{\alpha}}\Theta - (-1)^{(p-1)(q-1)}(\iota_{[X_{\beta},V_{\alpha}]}\Theta + \iota_{V_{\alpha}}\iota_{V_{\beta}}\Theta) \\ &= \iota_{[X_{\alpha},V_{\beta}]}\Theta - (-1)^{(p-1)(q-1)}\iota_{[X_{\beta},V_{\alpha}]}\Theta \\ &= \iota_{V}\Theta. \end{split}$$

where

$$V = [X_{\alpha}, V_{\beta}] - (-1)^{(p-1)(q-1)} [X_{\beta}, V_{\alpha}],$$

concluding that it is a conformal symmetry.

 \triangle

Definition 2.5. The graded Jacobi bracket of two conformal Hamiltonian forms α, β is

$$\{\alpha, \beta\} := -\iota_{[X_{\alpha}, X_{\beta}]}\Theta$$
,

where X_{α} , X_{β} are conformal symmetries for each of these forms. Well-definedness of this bracket follows from Theorem 2.4. For simplicity, we will refer to this bracket as the Jacobi bracket, provided there is no risk of confusion.

The Jacobi bracket of conformal Hamiltonian forms defined by a differential n-form $\Theta \in \Omega^n(M)$ is a bilinear operation

$$\Omega_H^a(M) \otimes \Omega_H^b(M) \longrightarrow \Omega_H^{a+b-(n-1)}(M)$$
.

Remark 2.6. Notice that we may write $\{\alpha, \beta\} = (-1)^{(p-1)q} (\mathcal{L}_{X_{\alpha}} - \iota_{V_{\alpha}}) \beta$.

Remark 2.7. Suppose $\Theta = \eta$ a contact form on M. Then, the previous bracket generalizes the usual Jacobi bracket of contact geometry. Indeed, Eq. (2.1) translates into

$$\iota_{X_f} \eta = -f$$
 and $\iota_{X_f} d\eta = df - R(f)\eta$,

where R denotes the *Reeb vector field*, the unique vector field satisfying $\iota_{\mathcal{R}}\eta = 1$, and $\iota_{\mathcal{R}}d\eta = 0$. Definition 2.5 gives

$$\{f,g\} = -\iota_{[X_f,X_g]}\eta\,,$$

which recovers the usual Jacobi bracket [14, 15].

The following result follows from the properties of the Schouten-Nijenhuis bracket.

Corollary 2.8. Let $\alpha \in \Omega^{n-p}(M)$, $\beta \in \Omega^{n-q}(M)$ and $\gamma \in \Omega^{n-r}(M)$ be conformal Hamiltonian forms. Then, the bracket of conformal Hamiltonian forms is graded skew-symmetric and satisfies the graded Jacobi identity, namely

(i)
$$\{\alpha, \beta\} = -(-1)^{(p-1)(q-1)} \{\beta, \alpha\},$$

$$(ii) \ \ (-1)^{(p-1)(r-1)}\{\alpha,\{\beta,\gamma\}\} + (-1)^{(r-1)(q-1)}\{\gamma,\{\alpha,\beta\}\} + (-1)^{(q-1)(p-1)}\{\beta,\{\gamma,\alpha\}\} = 0.$$

Note that infinitesimal conformal transformations are closed under exterior products, since

$$\mathcal{L}_{X \wedge Y} \Theta = \mathcal{L}_{Y} \iota_{X} \Theta + (-1)^{q} \iota_{Y} \mathcal{L}_{X} \Theta$$
$$= (-1)^{p(q-1)} \left(\iota_{[Y,X]} \Theta + \iota_{X} \mathcal{L}_{Y} \Theta \right) + (-1)^{q} \iota_{Y} \mathcal{L}_{X} \Theta ,$$

where $X \in \mathfrak{X}^p(M)$ and $Y \in \mathfrak{X}^q(M)$. This motivates the following definition.

Definition 2.9. The **cup product** of conformal Hamiltonian forms is defined as

$$\alpha \vee \beta := -\iota_{X_{\alpha} \wedge X_{\beta}} \Theta$$
.

Note that the cup product of conformal Hamiltonian forms is well-defined since

$$\alpha \vee \beta = \iota_{X_{\beta}} \alpha = (-1)^{pq} \iota_{X_{\alpha}} \beta$$
.

Remark 2.10. The cup product of two conformal Hamiltonian forms is again conformal Hamiltonian, since $X_{\alpha} \wedge X_{\beta}$ is again an infinitesimal conformal transformation.

The cup product defines a bilinear operation

$$\Omega_H^a(M) \otimes \Omega_H^b(M) \xrightarrow{\vee} \Omega_H^{a+b-n}(M)$$

which, using the properties of the Schouten–Nijenhuis bracket, is easily seen to satisfy the following property.

Corollary 2.11. Given $\alpha \in \Omega^{n-p}_H(M)$, $\beta \in \Omega^{n-q}_H(M)$ and $\gamma \in \Omega^{n-r}_H(M)$, the cup product satisfies the graded Leibniz rule

$$\{\alpha,\beta\vee\gamma\}=\{\alpha,\beta\}\vee\gamma+(-1)^{(r-1)q}\beta\vee\{\alpha,\gamma\}\,.$$

Furthermore,

Proposition 2.12. The Jacobi bracket satisfies the weak Leibniz rule, namely

$$\operatorname{Supp}\{\alpha,\beta\}\subseteq\operatorname{Supp}\alpha\cap\operatorname{Supp}\beta\,,$$

for every pair of Hamiltonian forms $\alpha \in \Omega_H^a(M,\Theta)$ and $\beta \in \Omega_H^b(M,\Theta)$, where Supp α denotes the support of α .

Proof. Indeed, this follows by noting that if α or β vanish on an open subset, so does their bracket, since we can choose X_{α} or X_{β} to be zero on this subset.

This result, along with Corollary 2.8 motivates the name graded Jacobi bracket given in Definition 2.5.

Observe that this endows the set of conformal Hamiltonian forms with a structure of a Gerstenhaber algebra [27], and the map $X \mapsto -\iota_X \Theta$ is a Gerstenhaber algebra homomorphism between infinitesimal conformal transformations and conformal Hamiltonian forms.

Remark 2.13. It is worth noting that, in the case where $\Theta = \eta$ defines a contact form on M, the cup product $f \vee g$ of two functions vanishes. Thus, we only have the weak Leibniz rule in the contact case.

Let us turn into discussing an immediate relation between the brackets defined and the Poisson bracket defined by a multisymplectic form.

Definition 2.14. A pre-multisymplectic form on M is a closed (n+1)-form $\Omega \in \Omega^n(M)$. A pre-multisymplectic form is said to be **multisymplectic** or **non-degenerate** if the vector bundle map $\flat \colon TM \to \bigwedge^n M$ defined by $\flat(v) := \iota_v \Omega$ is a monomorphism.

Every closed form induces a bracket in a suitable subspace of forms, which we define now.

Definition 2.15. Let (M,Ω) with $\Omega \in \Omega^{n+1}(M)$ be a (pre-)multisymplectic manifold. Then, a form $\alpha \in \Omega^a(M)$ is called **(pre-)multisymplectic Hamiltonian** if there exists a multivector field $X_{\alpha} \in \mathfrak{X}^{n-a}(M)$ such that $\iota_{X_{\alpha}}\Omega = \mathrm{d}\alpha$. We denote the space of multisymplectic Hamiltonian a-forms by $\Omega^a_H(M,\Omega)$. If the form to be used is clear from the context we simply write $\Omega^a_H(M)$.

Remark 2.16. (Pre-)multisymplectic Hamiltonian forms are usually referred to as Hamiltonian. We prefer to incorporate this longer name in order to avoid confusion with conformal Hamiltonian forms. \triangle

Definition 2.17. Let (M,Ω) , where $\Omega \in \Omega^{n+1}(M)$, be a pre-multisymplectic manifold and let $\alpha \in \Omega^{n-p}_H(M)$, $\beta \in \Omega^{n-q}_H(M)$ be pre-multisymplectic Hamiltonian forms. Their **Poisson bracket** is defined as

$$\{\alpha,\beta\}_P = (-1)^{q-1} \iota_{X_\alpha \wedge X_\beta} \Omega.$$

See [8, 9, 34] for further details on Poisson brackets in multisymplectic manifolds.

Remark 2.18. The Jacobi bracket associated to a differential n-form generalizes the bracket of 1-forms in symplectic geometry (see [37]). Indeed, let $\Omega \in \Omega^{n+1}(M)$ be a multisymplectic form. Then, given multisymplectic Hamiltonian forms $\widetilde{\alpha} \in \Omega^{n-p}_H(M,\Omega)$ and $\widetilde{\beta} \in \Omega^{n-q}_H(M,\Omega)$, we have that their Poisson bracket is given by

$$\{\widetilde{\alpha}, \widetilde{\beta}\}_P = (-1)^{q-1} \iota_{X_{\widetilde{\alpha}} \wedge X_{\widetilde{\alpha}}} \Omega,$$

where $X_{\widetilde{\alpha}} \in \mathfrak{X}^p(M), X_{\widetilde{\beta}} \in \mathfrak{X}^q(M)$ are multivector fields satisfying

$$\iota_{X_{\widetilde{\alpha}}}\Omega = \mathrm{d}\widetilde{\alpha} \qquad \text{and} \qquad \iota_{X_{\widetilde{\beta}}}\Omega = \mathrm{d}\widetilde{\beta} \,.$$

Then, both $X_{\widetilde{\alpha}}$ and $X_{\widetilde{\beta}}$ satisfy $\mathscr{L}_{X_{\widetilde{\alpha}}}\Omega=\mathscr{L}_{X_{\widetilde{\beta}}}\Omega=0$ and, in particular, they define infinitesimal conformal transformations. Hence, $\mathrm{d}\widetilde{\alpha}$ and $\mathrm{d}\widetilde{\beta}$ may be interpreted as conformal Hamiltonian forms in the sense of Definition 2.3 for the multivector fields $X_{\mathrm{d}\widetilde{\alpha}}=-X_{\widetilde{\alpha}}$ and $X_{\mathrm{d}\widetilde{\beta}}=-X_{\widetilde{\beta}}$, with conformal factors $V_{\mathrm{d}\widetilde{\alpha}}=0$ and $V_{\mathrm{d}\widetilde{\beta}}=0$, respectively. The Jacobi bracket of these two forms is related to the Poisson bracket of multisymplectic geometry as follows:

$$\begin{split} \{\mathrm{d}\widetilde{\alpha},\mathrm{d}\widetilde{\beta}\} &= -\iota_{[X_{\widetilde{\alpha}},X_{\widetilde{\beta}}]}\Omega = -(-1)^{(p-1)q} \mathscr{L}_{X_{\widetilde{\alpha}}}\iota_{X_{\widetilde{\beta}}}\Omega + \iota_{X_{\widetilde{\beta}}}\mathscr{L}_{X_{\widetilde{\alpha}}}\Omega \\ &= -(-1)^{(p-1)q} \mathscr{L}_{X_{\widetilde{\alpha}}}\iota_{X_{\widetilde{\beta}}}\Omega = -(-1)^{(p-1)q}\mathrm{d}\iota_{X_{\widetilde{\alpha}}}\iota_{X_{\widetilde{\beta}}}\Omega = (-1)^{q-1}\mathrm{d}\iota_{X_{\widetilde{\alpha}}\wedge X_{\widetilde{\beta}}}\Omega \\ &= \mathrm{d}\{\widetilde{\alpha},\widetilde{\beta}\}_{P}\,. \end{split}$$

As a particular case, for n=1, we obtain $\{df, dg\} = d\{f, g\}_P$, where $\{f, g\}_P$ is the Poisson bracket of two functions from symplectic geometry (see [1, 3]). Hence, we can think of the graded Jacobi bracket as a generalization of the graded Poisson bracket.

3 Multicontact structures and multisymplectization

In this section we study further relations between Jacobi and Poisson bracket generalizing a procedure known in contact geometry: symplectization.

3.1 General (pre-)multisymplectizations

Definition 3.1. An homogeneous (pre-)multisymplectic manifold is a pair $(\widetilde{M}, \Upsilon)$, where $\Upsilon \in \Omega^n(\widetilde{M})$ is such that $\Omega = -d\Upsilon$ defines a (pre-)multisymplectic form on M and such that there exists a vector field Δ , called a Liouville vector field satisfying $\iota_{\Delta}\Omega = -\Upsilon$.

Remark 3.2. In the case of symplectic geometry, a homogeneous symplectic structure is simply an exact symplectic structure $\omega = -dv$, since there always exists a vector field Δ such that $\iota_{\Delta}\omega = -v$. However, the same observation does not hold in multisymplectic geometry since, in general, we cannot guarantee the existence of a vector field Δ satisfying $\iota_{\Delta}\Omega = -\Upsilon$.

Let Θ be an *n*-form on a smooth manifold M.

Definition 3.3. Let $\tau \colon \widetilde{M} \to M$ be a (locally trivial) fiber bundle, where \widetilde{M} is endowed with a homogeneous (pre-)multisymplectic structure $\Omega = -\mathrm{d}\Upsilon$. Then, it is said to be a (pre-)multisymplectization of (M,Θ) if it admits a vertical Liouville vector field Δ with respect to the projection τ , and $\Upsilon = \phi \cdot \tau^*\Theta$ for certain non-vanishing function $\phi \in \mathscr{C}^{\infty}(\widetilde{M})$, called **the conformal factor**.

Remark 3.4. Notice that from $\iota_{\Delta} d(\phi \tau^* \Theta) = \Theta$ we must have $\Delta(\phi) \tau^* \Theta = \phi \tau^* \Theta$, so that if Θ is nowhere zero, we necessarily obtain $\Delta(\phi) = \phi$. A similar argument can be made for an *n*-form Θ that does not vanish on a dense subset of M.

Definition 3.5. The canonical (pre-)multisymplectization of (M, Θ) is defined as $M \times \mathbb{R}_{\times}$, together with the homogeneous (pre-)multisymplectic structure $\Omega = -\mathrm{d}(z\,\Theta)$, where z is the canonical coordinate in \mathbb{R}_{\times} . Notice that we can take as Liouville vector field $\Delta := z\frac{\partial}{\partial z}$ and as conformal factor $\phi := z$.

Proposition 3.6. Provided that $\ker_1 d\Theta \neq \{0\}$, the canonical (pre-)multisymplectization of (M,Θ) , namely $(M \times \mathbb{R}_{\times}, \Omega := -d(z\Theta))$, is a non-degenerate homogeneous multisymplectic manifold if and only if

$$\ker_1\Theta\cap\ker_1d\Theta=\{0\}.$$

Proof. Suppose first that $\ker_1 \Theta \cap \ker_1 d\Theta = \{0\}$ and let $u \in T(M \times \mathbb{R}_\times)$ such that $\iota_u \Omega = 0$. Identifying $T_{(p,a)}(M \times \mathbb{R}_\times) = T_p M \times T_a \mathbb{R}_\times \cong T_p M \times \mathbb{R}$, we can write

$$u = v + \gamma \frac{\partial}{\partial z},$$

where $v \in T_p M$ and $\gamma \in \mathbb{R}$. Then, $\iota_u \Omega = 0$ implies

$$dz \wedge \iota_v \Theta - z \iota_v d\Theta - \gamma \Theta = 0.$$

We will prove that v=0 and $\gamma=0$. Contracting with $\frac{\partial}{\partial z}$ yields $\iota_v\Theta=0$. Now, since $\ker_1 d\Theta \neq 0$, taking $w \in \ker_1 d\Theta \setminus \{0\}$ and contracting by it we have $-\gamma \iota_w\Theta=0$, which implies $\gamma=0$, since $w \notin \ker_1 \Theta$. Finally, we must have $z \iota_v d\Theta=0$ which implies $\iota_v d\Theta=0$, given that $z \neq 0$. We conclude that v=0, since $v \in \ker_1 \Theta \cap \ker_1 d\Theta=\{0\}$.

Conversely, assume that $-d(z\Theta)$ defines a non-degenerate multisymplectic form. Consider $v \in TM$ such that $\iota_v\Theta = \iota_v d\Theta = 0$. Then, identifying $T(M \times \mathbb{R}_\times) = TM \times T\mathbb{R}_\times$ we have $\iota_u d(z\Theta) = 0$, which implies u = 0, as we wanted to see.

Let us turn back to the theory of arbitrary (pre-)multisymplectizations. In particular, we will prove that every infinitesimal conformal transformation on the base can be lifted to a homogenous multivector field on the (pre-)multisymplectization.

Theorem 3.7. Let Θ be a nowhere vanishing n-form on M and let $\tau \colon \widetilde{M} \to M$, with $(\widetilde{M}, -d\Upsilon)$ a (pre-)multisymplectization of (M, Θ) with conformal factor $\phi \in \mathscr{C}^{\infty}(\widetilde{M})$. Then, for every infinitesimal conformal transformation $X \in \mathfrak{X}^p(M)$ of Θ there exists a unique-up-to-ker_p $d\Upsilon$ multivector field $\widetilde{X} \in \mathfrak{X}^p(\widetilde{M})$ such that

$$\mathscr{L}_{\widetilde{X}}\Upsilon = 0$$
 and $\tau_*\widetilde{X} = X$.

To prove this result, we will need the existence of a particular Ehresmann connection on $\tau \colon \widetilde{M} \to M$, namely a subbundle $H \subseteq T\widetilde{M}$ such that $\ker d\tau \oplus H = T\widetilde{M}$ and $H \subseteq \ker d\phi$. The following lemma ensures the existence of such a connection.

Lemma 3.8. There exists an Ehresmann connection H on $\tau \colon \widetilde{M} \to M$ such that $H \subseteq \ker d\phi$.

Proof. Notice that we have $\ker d\tau + \ker d\phi = T\widetilde{M}$. Indeed, following Remark 3.4, we have $d\phi(\Delta) = \phi$, which implies $d\phi \neq 0$ and $\Delta \notin \ker d\phi$. Hence,

$$\operatorname{rank} \ker \operatorname{d}_p \phi = \dim \widetilde{M} - 1.$$

Now, since $\Delta_p \notin \ker d_p \phi$, by a dimension comparison and using that Δ is τ -vertical, we must have

$$T\widetilde{M} = \ker d\phi \oplus \langle \Delta \rangle \subseteq \ker d\phi + \ker d\tau.$$

Furthermore, since $\ker d\phi + \ker d\tau = T\widetilde{M}$, we have that $\ker d\phi \cap \ker d\tau$ has constant rank and, therefore, $\ker d\phi/(\ker d\phi \cap \ker d\tau) \to M$ is a well-defined vector bundle. Notice that this induces a short exact sequence

$$0 \longrightarrow \ker d\phi \cap \ker d\tau \longrightarrow \ker d\phi \longrightarrow \ker d\phi/(\ker d\phi \cap \ker d\tau) \longrightarrow 0.$$

Taking an arbitrary Euclidean structure on $\ker d\phi \to \widetilde{M}$, we may define H through a splitting of the previous short exact sequence. It suffices to take H as the orthogonal complement of $\ker d\phi \cap \ker d\tau$ with respect to the chosen inner product. Indeed, by construction, it satisfies $H \cap \ker d\tau = \{0\}$ and, furthermore,

$$\operatorname{rank} H = \operatorname{rank} \ker d\phi - \operatorname{rank} (\ker d\phi \cap \ker d\tau) = \operatorname{rank} T\widetilde{M} - \operatorname{rank} \ker d\tau,$$

so that $H \oplus \ker d\tau = T\widetilde{M}$, defining the desired Ehresmann connection and finishing the proof. \square

An Ehresmann connection H on $\tau \colon \widetilde{M} \to M$ induces a map $\mathfrak{X}^p(M) \to \mathfrak{X}^p(\widetilde{M})$ given by

$$U = X_1 \wedge \cdots \wedge X_p \longmapsto U^h := X_1^h \wedge \cdots \wedge X_p^h$$
,

where X_i^h is the unique vector field on \widetilde{M} satisfying

$$\tau_* X_i^h = X_i$$
 and $X_i^h \in H$.

Lemma 3.9. Let H the Ehresmann connection from Lemma 3.8. Then, for every $X \in \mathfrak{X}^p(M)$ and $\alpha \in \Omega^a(M)$, we have

$$\iota_{X^h}(\mathrm{d}\phi \wedge \tau^*\alpha) = (-1)^p \mathrm{d}\phi \wedge \tau^*(\iota_X\alpha).$$

Proof. Suppose $X = X_1 \wedge \cdots \wedge X_p$, where $X_i \in \mathfrak{X}(M)$. Then, $X^h = X_1^h \wedge \cdots \wedge X_p^h$. Notice that

$$\begin{split} \iota_{X^h}(\mathrm{d}\phi \wedge \tau^*\alpha) &= \iota_{X^h_1 \wedge \dots \wedge X^h_p}(\mathrm{d}\phi \wedge \tau^*\alpha) = \iota_{X^h_2 \wedge \dots \wedge X^h_p} \iota_{X^h_1}(\mathrm{d}\phi \wedge \tau^*\alpha) \\ &= \iota_{X^h_2 \wedge \dots \wedge X^h_p}(\mathrm{d}\phi(X^h_1)\alpha - \mathrm{d}\phi \wedge \tau^*\iota_{X_1}\alpha) = -\iota_{X^h_2 \wedge \dots \wedge X^h_p}(\mathrm{d}\phi \wedge \tau^*\iota_{X_1}\alpha) \,, \end{split}$$

where in the last equality we have used that $X_1^h \in \ker d\phi$. Iterating the last argument we conclude that $\iota_{X^h}(d\phi \wedge \tau^*\alpha) = (-1)^p d\phi \wedge \tau^*(\iota_X\alpha)$.

Proof of Theorem 3.7. Let H be the Ehresmann connection from Lemma 3.8 and let $X \in \mathfrak{X}^p(M)$ be an infinitesimal conformal transformation of Θ . Define

$$\widetilde{X} := X^h + \Delta \wedge Y^h \,,$$

where $Y \in \mathfrak{X}^{p-1}(M)$ is a multivector field which is going to be specified later. Notice that $\tau_* \widetilde{X} = X$. We will look for Y such that $0 = \mathscr{L}_{\widetilde{X}} \Upsilon = -\mathscr{L}_{\widetilde{X}}(\phi \cdot \tau^* \Theta)$. Using Lemma 3.9, we have

$$\begin{split} \mathscr{L}_{X^h + \Delta \wedge Y^h}(\phi \cdot \tau^* \Theta) &= \mathrm{d}\iota_{X^h + \Delta \wedge Y^h}(\phi \cdot \tau^* \Theta) - (-1)^p \iota_{X^h + \Delta \wedge Y^h} \mathrm{d}(\phi \cdot \tau^* \Theta) \\ &= \mathrm{d}(\phi \tau^* (\iota_X \Theta)) - (-1)^p \iota_{X^h + \Delta \wedge Y^h} (\mathrm{d}\phi \wedge \tau^* \Theta + \phi \tau^* \mathrm{d}\Theta) \\ &= \mathrm{d}\phi \wedge \tau^* (\iota_X \Theta) + \phi \mathrm{d}(\tau^* \iota_X \Theta) - \mathrm{d}\phi \wedge \tau^* (\iota_X \Theta) \\ &- (-1)^p \mathrm{d}\phi(\Delta) \tau^* (\iota_Y \Theta) - (-1)^p \phi \tau^* (\iota_X \mathrm{d}\Theta) \\ &= \phi \tau^* \mathscr{L}_X \Theta - (-1)^p \mathrm{d}\phi(\Delta) \tau^* (\iota_Y \Theta) \\ &= \phi \tau^* (\mathscr{L}_X \Theta - (-1)^p \iota_Y \Theta) , \end{split}$$

since $d\phi(\Delta) = \phi$ (see Remark 3.4). Recall that X is an infinitesimal conformal transformation and, hence, there exists a multivector field $V \in \mathfrak{X}^{p-1}(M)$ such that $\mathscr{L}_X\Theta = \iota_V\Theta$. Therefore, it is enough to take $Y := (-1)^p V$ to conclude existence.

Let us show uniqueness-up-to-ker_p d Υ . Consider multivector fields $\widetilde{X}_1, \widetilde{X}_2$ such that $\mathscr{L}_{\widetilde{X}_i} \Upsilon = 0$ and $\tau_* \widetilde{X}_i = X$. Then,

$$\begin{split} 0 &= \mathscr{L}_{\widetilde{X}_i} \Upsilon = - (-1)^p \iota_{\widetilde{X}_i} \mathrm{d} \Upsilon + \mathrm{d} \iota_{\widetilde{X}_i} \Upsilon \\ &= - (-1)^p \iota_{\widetilde{X}_i} \mathrm{d} \Upsilon + \mathrm{d} \iota_{\widetilde{X}_i} (\phi \cdot \tau^* \Theta) \\ &= - (-1)^p \iota_{\widetilde{X}_i} \mathrm{d} \Upsilon + \mathrm{d} (\phi \cdot \tau^* \iota_X \Theta) \,. \end{split}$$

Hence,

$$0 = \iota_{\widetilde{X}_1} \mathrm{d} \Upsilon - \iota_{\widetilde{X}_2} \mathrm{d} \Upsilon = \iota_{\widetilde{X}_1 - \widetilde{X}_2} \mathrm{d} \Upsilon \,,$$

which finishes the proof.

Furthermore, we have that the lift of infinitesimal conformal transformations translates into a bracket preserving lift of conformal Hamiltonian forms to (pre-)multisymplectic Hamiltonian forms.

Theorem 3.10. Let Θ be a nowhere vanishing n-form on M and let $\tau \colon \widetilde{M} \to M$, with $(\widetilde{M}, -d\Upsilon)$, be a (pre-)nullisymplectization of (M, Θ) with conformal factor $\phi \in \mathscr{C}^{\infty}(\widetilde{M})$. Then, the map

$$\Psi \colon \begin{array}{ccc} \Omega_H^{n-p}(M,\Theta) & \longrightarrow & \Omega_H^{n-p}(\widetilde{M},\Omega = -\mathrm{d}\Upsilon) \\ \alpha & \longmapsto & (-1)^{p+1}\phi \cdot \tau^*\alpha \end{array}$$

is well defined and, for every $\alpha \in \Omega^{n-p}_H(M,\Theta)$ and $\beta \in \Omega^{n-q}_H(M,\Theta)$ it satisfies

$$\{\Psi(\alpha), \Psi(\beta)\}_P = \Psi(\{\alpha, \beta\}) + (-1)^q d\Psi(\alpha \vee \beta).$$

Proof. Let $\alpha \in \Omega^{n-p}_H(M,\Theta)$ and let $X_\alpha \in \mathfrak{X}^p(M), V_\alpha \in X^{p-1}(M)$ be multivector fields such that

$$\alpha = -\iota_{X_{\alpha}}\Theta$$
 and $\mathscr{L}_{X_{\alpha}}\Theta = \iota_{V_{\alpha}}\Theta$.

Take $\widetilde{X} \in \mathfrak{X}^p(M)$ to be the multivector field from Theorem 3.7. Then, we have

$$\iota_{\widetilde{X}}(-d\Upsilon) = -\iota_{\widetilde{X}}d\Upsilon = -(-1)^{p}d\iota_{\widetilde{X}}\Upsilon + (-1)^{p}\mathcal{L}_{\widetilde{X}}\Upsilon$$
$$= -(-1)^{p}d\iota_{\widetilde{Y}}(\phi \cdot \tau^{*}\Theta) = (-1)^{p+1}d(\phi \cdot \tau^{*}\alpha),$$

which proves that $\phi \cdot d\alpha$ is Hamiltonian and hence ψ is well defined.

Consider $\alpha \in \Omega^{n-p}_H(M,\Theta)$ and $\beta \in \Omega^{n-q}_H(M,\Theta)$. Let $X_{\alpha}, V_{\alpha}, X_{\beta}, V_{\beta}$ be multivector fields such that

$$\alpha = -\iota_{X_\alpha}\Theta\,, \qquad \mathscr{L}_{x_\alpha}\Theta = \iota_{V_\alpha}\Theta\,, \qquad \beta = -\iota_{X_\beta}\Theta\,, \qquad \mathscr{L}_{x_\beta}\Theta = \iota_{V_\beta}\Theta\,.$$

Defining H to be the Ehresmann connection from Lemma 3.8, following Theorem 3.7, we can take as lift of X_{α} and X_{β}

$$\widetilde{X}_{\alpha} = X_{\alpha}^{h} + (-1)^{p} \Delta \wedge V_{\alpha}$$
 and $\widetilde{X}_{\beta} = X_{\beta}^{h} + (-1)^{q} \Delta \wedge V_{\beta}$,

respectively. As we know from the previous calculation, these lifts are the vector fields corresponding to the (pre-)multisymplectic Hamiltonian forms $\Psi(\alpha) = (-1)^{p+1}\phi \tau^*\alpha$ and $\Psi(\beta) = (-1)^{q+1}\phi \tau^*\beta$. Therefore, using that $\mathscr{L}_{\widetilde{X}_{\alpha}\wedge\widetilde{X}_{\beta}}\Upsilon = (-1)^q \iota_{\widetilde{X}_{\beta}}\mathscr{L}_{\widetilde{X}_{\alpha}}\Upsilon + \mathscr{L}_{\widetilde{X}_{\beta}}\iota_{\widetilde{X}_{\alpha}}\Upsilon$ (see [21]), we have

$$\begin{split} \{\Psi(\alpha), \Psi(\beta)\}_P &= (-1)^{q-1} \iota_{X_{\psi(\alpha)} \wedge X_{\psi(\beta)}} \Omega = (-1)^q \iota_{\widetilde{X}_{\alpha} \wedge \widetilde{X}_{\beta}} \mathrm{d} \Upsilon \\ &= (-1)^p \left(-\mathscr{L}_{\widetilde{X}_{\alpha} \wedge \widetilde{X}_{\beta}} \Upsilon + \mathrm{d} \iota_{\widetilde{X}_{\alpha} \wedge \widetilde{X}_{\beta}} \Upsilon \right) \\ &= (-1)^p \left(-(-1)^q \iota_{\widetilde{X}_{\beta}} \mathscr{L}_{\widetilde{X}_{\alpha}} \Upsilon - \mathscr{L}_{\widetilde{X}_{\beta}} \iota_{\widetilde{X}_{\alpha}} \Upsilon + \mathrm{d} (\phi \, \tau^* \iota_{X_{\alpha} \wedge X_{\beta}} \Theta) \right) \\ &= (-1)^p \left(-\mathscr{L}_{\widetilde{X}_{\beta}} \iota_{\widetilde{X}_{\alpha}} \Upsilon - \mathrm{d} \left(\phi \, \tau^* (\alpha \vee \beta) \right) \right), \end{split}$$

where in the last equality we have used that $\mathscr{L}_{\tilde{X}_{\alpha}} \Upsilon = 0$, being the definition of the lift from Theorem 3.7. Now, using that

$$\mathcal{L}_{\widetilde{X}_{\beta}} \iota_{\widetilde{X}_{\alpha}} \Upsilon = (-1)^{(q-1)p} \iota_{[\widetilde{X}_{\beta}, \widetilde{X}_{\alpha}]} \Upsilon + (-1)^{(q-1)p} \iota_{\widetilde{X}_{\alpha}} \mathcal{L}_{\widetilde{X}_{\beta}} \Upsilon$$

$$= (-1)^{(q-1)p} \iota_{[\widetilde{X}_{\beta}, \widetilde{X}_{\alpha}]} \Upsilon = (-1)^{(q-1)p} \phi \tau^* \iota_{[X_{\beta}, X_{\alpha}]} \Theta$$

$$= -(-1)^{(q-1)p} \phi \tau^* \{\beta, \alpha\},$$

we get

$$\{\Psi(\alpha), \Psi(\beta)\}_P = (-1)^p \left((-1)^{(q-1)p} \phi \tau^* \{\beta, \alpha\} - \mathrm{d} \left(\phi \tau^* (\alpha \vee \beta) \right) \right)$$
$$= (-1)^{p+q} \phi \tau^* \{\alpha, \beta\} + (-1)^{p+1} \mathrm{d} \left(\phi \tau^* (\alpha \vee \beta) \right)$$
$$= \Psi(\{\alpha, \beta\}) + (-1)^q \mathrm{d} \Psi(\alpha \vee \beta),$$

which finishes the proof.

Remark 3.11. Theorem 3.10 implies that the map $\Psi(\alpha) = (-1)^{p+1} \phi \cdot \tau^* \alpha$ is a L_{∞} -algebra morphism, preserving brackets up to an exact term (see [7]).

Remark 3.12. In the case where $\Theta = \eta$ is a contact form, Theorem 3.10 translates into a map

$$\begin{array}{cccc} \Psi \colon & \mathscr{C}^{\infty}(M) & \longrightarrow & \mathscr{C}^{\infty}(\widetilde{M}) \\ & f & \longmapsto & \Psi(f) = \phi \cdot f \,, \end{array}$$

that satisfies

$$\{\Psi(f),\Psi(g)\}_P=\Psi(\{f,g\})\,,$$

since $f \vee g = -\iota_{X_f \wedge X_g} \eta = 0$ so that we recover the usual case of symplectizations of contact manifolds.

More generally,

Proposition 3.13. Let Θ be a nowhere vanishing n-form on M and consider $\alpha \in \Omega_H^a(M,\Theta)$ and $\beta \in \Omega_H^b(M,\Theta)$ with a+b < n. Then, the map Ψ defined in Theorem 3.10 satisfies

$$\{\Psi(\alpha), \Psi(\beta)\}_P = \Psi(\{\alpha, \beta\}).$$

Proof. Notice that we have $\alpha \vee \beta = -\iota_{X_{\alpha} \wedge X_{\beta}} \Theta$, and $\deg(X_{\alpha} \wedge X_{\beta}) = (n-a) + (n-b) = 2n - (a+b) > n$, which implies $\alpha \vee \beta = 0$, and finishes the proof using the formula in Theorem 3.10

In the case of the canonical (pre-)multisymplectization, the previous results translate into the following.

Corollary 3.14. For every conformal transformation of a nowhere vanishing form Θ , $X \in \mathfrak{X}^p(M)$, there exists a unique-up-to-ker_p $d(z \Theta)$ multivector field $\widetilde{X} \in \mathfrak{X}^p(M \times \mathbb{R}_{\times})$ such that

$$\tau_* \widetilde{X} = X$$
 and $\mathscr{L}_{\widetilde{X}}(z \Theta) = 0$.

Corollary 3.15. For a nowhere vanishing form, Θ , the map

$$\begin{array}{cccc} \Psi \colon & \Omega_H^{n-p}(M) & \longrightarrow & \Omega_H^{n-p}(M \times \mathbb{R}_\times) \\ & \alpha & \longmapsto & \Psi(\alpha) = (-1)^{p+1} z \, \tau^* \alpha \end{array}$$

satisfies

$$\{\Psi(\alpha), \Psi(\beta)\}_P = \Psi(\{\alpha, \beta\}) + (-1)^q d\Psi(\alpha \vee \beta),$$

for every $\alpha \in \Omega^{n-p}_H(M,\Theta)$ and $\beta \in \Omega^{n-q}_H(M,\Theta)$.

3.2 Multisymplectizations of multicontact manifolds

Let us first define what a multicontact manifold is. Proposition 3.6 motivates the following:

Definition 3.16. A multicontact manifold is a pair (M, Θ) such that

$$\ker_1 \Theta \cap \ker_1 d\Theta = \{0\}$$
 and $\ker_1 d\Theta \neq \{0\}$.

Remark 3.17. The condition $\ker_1 d\Theta \neq \{0\}$ ensures that the canonical (pre-)multisymplectization of a multicontact manifold (M, Θ) is non-degenerate and, furthermore, it is a property that will be heavily used in the sequel.

Remark 3.18. In [38], Vitagliano introduces higher codimensional versions of contact manifolds that he calls 'multicontact manifolds'. This notion is different from ours since, in the cited paper, a multicontact manifold is a manifold equipped with a maximally non-integrable distribution of higher codimension, which is called a multicontact structure. However, here we are considering differential forms, not distributions. \triangle

Remark 3.19. Definition 3.16 recovers the notion of contact form when dealing with 1-forms. Indeed, let $\eta \in \Omega^1(M)$ such that

$$\ker_1 \eta \cap \ker_1 d\eta = \{0\}$$
 and $\ker_1 d\eta \neq \{0\}$.

First notice that M is necessarily odd dimensional. Indeed, $\dim \ker_1 \eta = \dim M - 1$ so that $\dim \ker_1 d\eta = 1$. Since codim $\ker_1 d\eta$ is necessarily even dimensional, $\dim M$ must be odd. Now notice that the map

$$\begin{array}{cccc} \flat \colon & \mathrm{T} M & \longrightarrow & \mathrm{T}^* M \\ & v & \longmapsto & \iota_v \mathrm{d} \eta + \eta(v) \cdot \eta \end{array}$$

defines a vector bundle isomorphism. Indeed, it is enough to show that it defines a monomorphism of vector bundles. Consider $v \in TM$ such that

$$\iota_v d\eta + \eta(v) \cdot \eta = 0.$$

Contracting again by v yields $\eta(v)^2 = 0$, which implies $\eta(v) = 0$. Hence, we have $\iota_v d\eta = 0$, which gives $v \in \ker_1 \eta \cap \ker_1 d\eta$ and, hence, v = 0. Therefore, \flat defines a vector bundle isomorphism and thus, η defines a contact form.

The theory of (pre-)multisymplectizations is greatly simplified when dealing with multisymplectizations of multicontact manifolds. First notice that a multicontact n-form Θ is necessarily nowhere vanishing. Indeed, if $\Theta|_p = 0$, then $\ker_1 \Theta|_p = \mathrm{T}_p M$ which would yield $0 = \ker_1 \Theta|_p \cap \ker_1 d\Theta|_p = \ker_1 d\Theta|_p \neq 0$, giving a contradiction.

Proposition 3.20. Let $\tau \colon \widetilde{M} \to M$ be a fiber bundle with at least 1-dimensional fibers, where $(\widetilde{M}, \Omega = -\mathrm{d}(\phi \tau^*\Theta))$ is a homogeneous multisymplectic manifold for some nowhere vanishing function $\phi \in \mathscr{C}^{\infty}(\widetilde{M})$. Then, its Liouville vector field Δ is vertical.

Proof. Indeed, denoting $\Upsilon = \phi \cdot \tau^* \Theta$, the condition $\iota_{\Lambda} \Omega = -\Upsilon$ translates into

$$d\phi(\Delta) \cdot \tau^* \Theta - d\phi \wedge \iota_{\Delta} \tau^* \Theta + \phi \cdot \iota_{\Delta} \tau^* d\Theta = \phi \cdot \tau^* \Theta. \tag{3.1}$$

Let $p \in \widetilde{M}$, and let $Y \in \mathfrak{X}(\widetilde{M})$ be a vertical vector field with $Y|_p \neq 0$. Then, since Ω is a non-degenerate multisymplectic form, $\iota_Y \Omega|_p \neq 0$, that is, $\mathrm{d}\phi(Y)|_p \cdot \tau^*\Theta|_p \neq 0$, and, thus, $\mathrm{d}\phi(Y)|_p \neq 0$. Contract by Y on Eq. (3.1) to get $\mathrm{d}\phi(Y) \cdot \iota_\Delta \tau^*\Theta = 0$. Since $\mathrm{d}\phi(Y)|_p \neq 0$, we must have $\iota_\Delta \tau^*\Theta|_p = 0$. Since p is arbitrary, we conclude $\iota_\Delta \tau^*\Theta = 0$ everywhere.

Now, let $Y \in \mathfrak{X}(\widetilde{M})$ be a projectable vector field such that $\tau_*Y \in \ker d\Theta$ with $Y|_{\tau(p)} \neq 0$. Contracting by it in Eq. (3.1) and using that $\iota_{\Delta}\tau^*\Theta = 0$, we get $\mathrm{d}\phi(\Delta) \cdot \tau^*\iota_{\tau_*Y}\Theta = \phi\tau^*\iota_{\tau_*Y}\Theta$ and, since $\tau_*Y|_{\tau(p)} \neq 0$ and $\ker_1\Theta \cap \ker_1\mathrm{d}\Theta = 0$, we have $\tau_*Y|_{\tau(p)} \notin \ker_1\Theta$. This implies that $\mathrm{d}\phi(\Delta)|_p = \phi(p)$ and, since p is arbitrary, we conclude that $\phi(\Delta) = \phi$.

Finally, notice that the two previous equalities imply $\iota_{\Delta}\tau^*d\Theta = 0$ and, together with $\iota_{\Delta}\tau^*\Theta = 0$, we have $\tau_*\Delta = 0$, since $\ker_1\Theta \cap \ker_1d\Theta = 0$, concluding the proof.

Remark 3.21. From Remark 3.4, we know that for a multisymplectization $\tau \colon \widetilde{M} \to M$ of a multicontact manifold (M, Θ) with conformal factor ϕ , we have $\Delta(\phi) = \phi$.

In fact,

Proposition 3.22. If $\tau \colon \widetilde{M} \to M$ is a multisymplectization of the multicontact manifold (M, Θ) , then the fibers are necessarily 1-dimensional.

Proof. Let $Y \in \mathfrak{X}(\widetilde{M})$ be an arbitrary vertical vector field. We will show that $Y = \frac{Y(\phi)}{\phi}\Delta$. Indeed, notice that

$$\iota_{Y-\frac{Y(\phi)}{\phi}\Delta} d(\phi \tau^*\Theta) = Y(\phi)\tau^*\Theta - Y(\phi)\tau^*\Theta = 0.$$

Now, since the form $-d(\phi \tau^*\Theta)$ is non-degenerate, we must have $Y = \frac{Y(\phi)}{\phi}\Delta$, finishing the proof.

The main ingredient used in the proof of Theorem 3.7 was the existence of the connection given in Lemma 3.8. If $\tau \colon \widetilde{M} \to M$ is a multisymplectization of a multicontact manifold (M, Θ) with conformal factor $\phi \in \mathscr{C}^{\infty}(\widetilde{M})$, then, by Proposition 3.22, the connection given by Lemma 3.8 is actually $H = \ker d\phi$. In particular, we get a well defined horizontal lift:

$$\mathfrak{X}^p(M) \longrightarrow \mathfrak{X}^p(\widetilde{M}).$$

Furthermore, we have the following characterization:

Theorem 3.23. Let (M,Θ) be a connected multicontact manifold and let $\tau \colon \widetilde{M} \to M$ be a connected multisymplectization with conformal factor $\phi \in \mathscr{C}^{\infty}(\widetilde{M})$. Assume that ker $\mathrm{d}\phi$ defines a complete Ehresmann connection, namely a connection such that the horizontal lift preserves completeness of vector fields. Then, there exist:

- (i) a covering space $\pi: \Sigma \to M$;
- (ii) an open interval $I \subseteq \mathbb{R}$ such that $0 \notin I$;
- (iii) a diffeomorphism $\Phi \colon \Sigma \times I \to \widetilde{M}$ over the identity on M such that $\phi \circ \Phi$ is the projection onto I.

Before proving the Theorem, let us give a sufficient condition for a local diffeomorphism $\Sigma \to M$ to define a covering space.

Lemma 3.24. Let $\pi: \Sigma \to M$ be a surjective local diffeomorphism. Assume that for every path $\gamma: [0,1] \to M$ and for every $x \in \pi^{-1}(\gamma(0))$ there exists a lift of the path $\widetilde{\gamma}: [0,1] \to \Sigma$ with $\widetilde{\gamma}(0) = x$. Then, $\pi: \Sigma \to M$ is a covering space.

Proof. Consider $x \in M$ and let $U \ni x$ be an open neighborhood diffeomorphic to \mathbb{R}^n . Let V be some connected component of $\pi^{-1}(U)$. Let us prove that

$$\pi|_V\colon V\to U$$

defines a diffeomorphism. Indeed, it is enough to show that it is bijective.

Let us first prove surjectivity. Take $\widetilde{x} \in V$ and denote $x := \pi(\widetilde{x}) \in U$. Let $y \in U$. Since U is path connected, there exists a smooth path $\gamma \colon [0,1] \to U$ such that $\gamma(0) = x$ and $\gamma(1) = y$. By hypothesis, there exists a lift $\widetilde{\gamma} \colon [0,1] \to \Sigma$ such that $\widetilde{\gamma}(0) = \widetilde{x}$, and with $\pi \circ \widetilde{\gamma} = \gamma \circ \pi$. Since $\operatorname{Im} \widetilde{\gamma}$ is connected and $\operatorname{Im} \widetilde{\gamma} \cap V \neq \emptyset$, we have $\operatorname{Im} \widetilde{\gamma} \subseteq V$, given that V is connected. Now, we have $\pi(\widetilde{\gamma}(1)) = \gamma(\pi(\widetilde{\gamma}(1))) = y$, which shows that $\pi|_{V} \colon V \to U$ is surjective.

Finally, let us show that it is injective. Suppose there are $\widetilde{x}_1, \widetilde{x}_2 \in V$ with $\pi(\widetilde{x}_1) = \pi(\widetilde{x}_2)$. Since V is open and connected, it is path connected and there exists a smooth path $\widetilde{\gamma} \colon [0,1] \to \Sigma$ with $\widetilde{\gamma}(0) = \widetilde{x}_1$ and $\widetilde{\gamma}(1) = \widetilde{x}_2$. This map projects onto a loop $\gamma = \pi \circ \widetilde{\gamma}$ in U. Since, by definition U is diffeomorphic to \mathbb{R}^n , then there exists a smooth loop homotopy γ_t such that $\gamma_0 = \gamma$ and γ_1 is a constant path. Lifting these paths to paths $\widetilde{\gamma}_t$ satisfying $\widetilde{\gamma}_t(0) = \widetilde{x}_1$, by continuity we must have $\widetilde{\gamma}_t(1) = \widetilde{x}_2$. Taking t = 1, since γ_1 is constant, so is $\widetilde{\gamma}_1$, which implies $\widetilde{x}_1 = \widetilde{x}_2$, finishing the proof.

Proof of Theorem 3.23. From Proposition 3.22, we have that all fibers are necessarily 1-dimensional and, from Proposition 3.20, we conclude that the Liouville vector field Δ generates ker $d\tau$. Define $I := \operatorname{Im} \phi$, which is a connected and open subspace of \mathbb{R} , namely an open interval. Take $c \in I$ and define $\Sigma := \phi^{-1}(c)$.

Let us prove that $\pi:=\tau|_{\Sigma}\colon \Sigma\to M$ is a covering space. Let us first check that it is a surjection. Define

$$U := \{ x \in M \mid c \in \phi(\tau^{-1}(x)) \}$$
 and $V := \{ x \in M \mid c \notin \phi(\tau^{-1}(x)) \}$.

Clearly, $M = U \cup V$, $U \cap V = \emptyset$, $U \neq \emptyset$ and V is open. If we prove that U is open as well, surjectivity will follow from connectedness of M. Let $x \in U$ and take a compact neighborhood K of x. An arbitrary vector field $X \in \mathfrak{X}(M)$ with support contained in K is complete and, using completeness of the Ehresmann connection defined by $\ker d\phi$, its horizontal lift X^h will be complete as well. Let $\psi_t, \, \psi_t^h$, with $t \in \mathbb{R}$ be the global flows of X and X^h , respectively. Since $X^h(\phi) = 0$, the diffeomorphisms $\psi_t^h : \widetilde{M} \to \widetilde{M}$ induce diffeomorphisms

$$\psi_t^h\Big|_{\Sigma} \colon \Sigma \to \Sigma \,.$$

Noting that $\pi \circ \psi_t^h = \psi^t \circ \pi$ and that by an adequate choice of a vector field X we can set $\psi^1(x) = y$, for any y in a neighborhood of x, we conclude that U is open, and that π is surjective. Finally, since the Ehresmann connection defined by $\ker d\phi$ is complete, $\pi \colon \Sigma \to M$ satisfies the hypotheses of Lemma 3.24 and, therefore, it is a covering space.

Notice that using a similar argument, and the fact that \widetilde{M} is connected, we can prove that ϕ defines a diffeomorphism between any connected component of a fiber $\tau^{-1}(x)$ and I.

Finally, define

$$\Phi \colon \begin{array}{ccc} \Sigma \times I & \longrightarrow & \widetilde{M} \\ (x,t) & \longmapsto & \phi|_{\Sigma_x}^{-1}(t) \end{array}$$

where Σ_x is the connected component of $\tau^{-1}(\tau(x))$ that contains x. It is clearly bijective. The proof will be finished once we show that it is smooth and that it defines a local diffeomorphism. To show that it is smooth, let us show that its inverse $\Psi := \Phi^{-1}$ is smooth. Indeed, notice that

$$\phi_* \Delta = t \frac{\partial}{\partial t},$$

so that the flow of Δ , which we denote by ψ_t^{Δ} , satisfies $\phi(\psi_t^{\Delta}(x)) = e^t \phi(x)$. Therefore, the inverse is given by

$$\begin{array}{cccc} \Psi \colon & \widetilde{M} & \longrightarrow & \Sigma \times I \\ & x & \longmapsto & \left(\psi^{\Delta}_{\log|c| - \log|\phi(x)|}(x), \phi(x) \right), \end{array}$$

which is clearly smooth. To show that it is a local diffeomorphism, notice that for $x \in \widetilde{M}$ we have

$$(\psi_t^{\Delta})_* \ker d_x \phi = \ker d_{\psi_t^{\Delta}(x)} \phi$$
 and $\phi_* \Delta = t \frac{\partial}{\partial t}$.

Since $TM = \ker d\phi \oplus \langle \Delta \rangle$, we conclude $\Psi_*TM = T\Sigma \times TI$, proving that it is a diffeomorphism. \square

More generally, when $\ker d\phi$ does not define a complete Ehresmann connection, we can prove the following:

Theorem 3.25. Let (M,Θ) be a connected multicontact manifold and $\tau \colon \widetilde{M} \to M$ be a connected multisymplectization with conformal factor $\phi \in \mathscr{C}^{\infty}(\widetilde{M})$. Assume that for every smooth curve $\gamma \colon [0,1] \to M$ there exists a smooth lift $\widetilde{\gamma} \colon [0,1] \to \widetilde{M}$ passing through any point in the fiber $\tau^{-1}(\gamma(0))$. Then, there exist

- (i) a covering space $\pi: \Sigma \to M$;
- (ii) an open interval $I \subseteq \mathbb{R}$ such that $0 \notin I$;
- (iii) an open embedding $\Psi \colon \widetilde{M} \to \Sigma \times I$ over the identity on M such that the map $\phi \circ \Psi^{-1}|_{\operatorname{Im} \Psi}$ is the projection onto I.

Before proving this result, we need the following lemma.

Lemma 3.26. Define \mathcal{F} to be the foliation defined by $\langle \Delta \rangle$, the distribution generated by the Liouville vector field. Then, there exists a smooth manifold structure on $\Sigma = \widetilde{M}/\mathcal{F}$ so that the canonical projection $p \colon \widetilde{M} \to \Sigma$ defines a submersion.

Proof. Let $x \in \widetilde{M}$ and $\Sigma_x := \phi^{-1}(\phi(x))$, which is a submanifold since $\phi(x)$ is a regular value of ϕ . Notice that the restriction $p|_{\Sigma_x} : \Sigma_x \to \Sigma$ defines an homeomorphism between an open neighborhood of x in Σ_x , U_x , and an open neighborhood of p(x) in Σ , V_x . Let $\varphi_x : \mathbb{R}^n \to U_x$ be a parametrization of U_x and define the induced parametrization of V_x as $\widetilde{\varphi}_x := p \circ \varphi_x$. We will show that the collection $\mathcal{Z} := \{(V_x, \widetilde{\varphi}_x), x \in \widetilde{M}\}$ defines an atlas on Σ . Indeed, let us show that coordinate changes are smooth. Consider $y \in \widetilde{M}$ such that $V_y \cap U_x \neq \emptyset$. Now, since $\varphi_* \Delta = t \frac{\partial}{\partial t}$, denoting by ψ_t^Δ the flow of Δ , we have $\phi(\psi_t^\Delta(x)) = e^t \phi(x)$. If φ_x is a parametrization of Σ_x on $(p|_{\Sigma_x})^{-1}(V_x \cap V_y)$, then $\psi_{\log |\phi(y)| - \log |\phi(x)|}^\Delta \circ \varphi_x$ is a parametrization of Σ_y on $(p|_{\Sigma_y})^{-1}(V_c \cap V_y)$. Therefore, if φ_y is a different parametrization, the coordinate change $\widetilde{\varphi}_y^{-1} \circ \widetilde{\varphi}_x = \varphi_y^{-1} \circ \psi_{\log |\phi(y)| - \log |\phi(x)|}^\Delta \circ \varphi_x$ is smooth, proving the claim. Furthermore, from the construction, it is easy to see that p defines a submersion.

Proof of Theorem 3.25. Since the distribution generated by Δ is 1-dimensional, it is involutive. Let \mathcal{F} denote the associated foliation and define

$$\Sigma := \widetilde{M}/\mathcal{F}$$
 .

We have an induced map $\pi \colon \Sigma \to M$, which is a local diffeomorphism. Furthermore, since \widetilde{M} has the path lift property, so does Σ (by projection) and, therefore, using Lemma 3.24, $\pi \colon \Sigma \to M$ defines a covering space.

Finally, it is enough to define

$$\begin{array}{cccc} \Phi \colon & \widetilde{M} & \longrightarrow & \Sigma \times I \\ & x & \longmapsto & (p(x), \phi(x)) \,, \end{array}$$

which is clearly an embedding.

Remark 3.27. In this line of thought, it would also be interesting to develop an inverse procedure to multisymplectization, some "multicontactification", following the ideas in [29]. \triangle

4 The # mapping and the Reeb multivector field

Every contact manifold (M, η) has an underlying Jacobi structure, namely a pair (Λ, E) consisting of a bivector and vector field, respectively, such that

$$[\Lambda, \Lambda] = 2E \wedge \Lambda$$
 and $[\Lambda, E] = 0$.

Then, there is an induced map $\sharp_{\Lambda} \colon \mathrm{T}^*M \to \mathrm{T}M$ given by $\sharp_{\Lambda}(\alpha) = \iota_{\alpha}\Lambda$ and the Jacobi bracket of two functions $f, g \in \mathscr{C}^{\infty}(M)$ can be written as

$$\{f,g\} = \iota_{\sharp_{\Lambda}(\mathrm{d}f)}\mathrm{d}g + E(g)f - E(f)g. \tag{4.1}$$

In this section we define the analogue of the previous \sharp mapping when dealing with a multicontact manifold (M,Θ) , where Θ has now arbitrary order n.

Recent research has been devoted to study the equivalent analogue of Poisson and Dirac structures from classical mechanics to classical field theories (see [6, 7, 13, 39]). The vector bundle map \sharp_{Λ} is generalized to a vector bundle map

$$\sharp \colon \mathcal{Z}^n \longrightarrow \mathrm{T}M,$$

where \mathbb{Z}^n is a vector subbundle of $\bigwedge^n M$ and \sharp is skew-symmetric, namely

$$\iota_{\sharp(\alpha)}\beta = -\iota_{\sharp(\beta)}\alpha\,,$$

for every $\alpha, \beta \in \mathbb{Z}^n$.

Consider a multicontact manifold (M,Θ) with $\Theta \in \Omega^n(M)$. Define the subbundle of forms $\mathcal{Z}^n \subseteq \bigwedge^n M$ consisting of $\alpha \in \bigwedge^n M$ such that there exists a vector $X \in TM$, and a scalar $\gamma \in \mathbb{R}$ with

$$\iota_X \Theta = 0$$
 and $\iota_X d\Theta = \alpha + \gamma \cdot \Theta$.

Note that

$$\mathcal{Z}^n = \{ \iota_X d\Theta \mid X \in TM \} \oplus \langle \Theta \rangle.$$

We shall assume that \mathcal{Z}^n defines a vector subbundle.

Lemma 4.1. Under the definitions given above, for every $\alpha \in \mathbb{Z}^n$ there exists a unique $\gamma \in \mathbb{R}$ and a unique $X \in TM$ such that

$$\iota_X \Theta = 0$$
 and $\iota_X d\Theta = \alpha + \gamma \cdot \Theta$.

Proof. It is enough to show that if

$$\iota_X \mathrm{d}\Theta = \gamma \cdot \Theta \,,$$

then $\gamma = 0$. Indeed, for $Y \in \ker_1 d\Theta$ we must have

$$\gamma \cdot \iota_Y \Theta = 0.$$

Taking $Y \neq 0$ we have $\iota_Y \Theta \neq 0$ since $Y \notin \ker_1 \Theta$, and thus $\gamma = 0$, which shows uniqueness of γ . Uniqueness of X follows from the assumption

$$\ker_1\Theta\cap\ker_1d\Theta=\{0\}\,.$$

Definition 4.2. Define the \sharp mapping $\sharp: \mathcal{Z}^n \to TM$ and the Reeb mapping $\mathcal{R}: \mathcal{Z}^n \to \mathbb{R}$ as the unique vector bundle morphisms such that

$$\iota_{\sharp(\alpha)}\Theta = 0$$
 and $\iota_{\sharp(\alpha)}d\Theta = \alpha + \mathcal{R}(\alpha)\cdot\Theta$,

for every $\alpha \in \mathbb{Z}^n$.

Using that $\mathcal{Z}^n = \{\iota_X \Theta \mid X \in TM\} \oplus \langle \Theta \rangle$, the morphisms \sharp and \mathcal{R} are explicitly given by

$$\sharp(\iota_X d\Theta + \gamma \cdot \Theta) = X$$
 and $\mathcal{R}(\iota_X d\Theta + \gamma \cdot \Theta) = \gamma$.

Remark 4.3. We can interpret \mathcal{R} as a class of multivectors:

$$\mathcal{R} \in (\mathcal{Z}^n)^* \cong \bigvee_n M/K_n$$
,

where $K_n = \{u \in \bigvee_n M \mid \iota_u \mathcal{Z}^n = 0\}$, and we shall henceforth do so making abuse of notation, referring to \mathcal{R} as the **Reeb multivector field**.

Remark 4.4. Let $\Theta = \eta$ be a contact form on M. Then, the \sharp and Reeb mapping from Definition 4.2 is contraction by the multivector field Λ and vector field E, respectively, where Λ and E are the bivector and vector fields associated to the Jacobi structure induced by η [14, 15]. \triangle

Furthermore, we have the following.

Lemma 4.5. The morphism \sharp is skew-symmetric, namely

$$\iota_{\sharp(\alpha)}\beta = -\iota_{\sharp(\beta)}\alpha$$
.

Proof. Note that

$$\iota_{\sharp(\alpha)}\beta=\iota_{\sharp(\alpha)}\iota_{\sharp(\beta)}d\Theta-\mathcal{R}(\beta)\cdot\iota_{\sharp(\alpha)}\Theta=\iota_{\sharp(\beta)\wedge\sharp(\alpha)}d\Theta\,.$$

Now we wish to define the # mapping for forms of arbitrary degree, in order to give a complete description of the bracket. Let us state a different description of [13, Theorem III.A.1] which will help us fulfill our purposes:

Theorem 4.6. Let V be a finite dimensional vector space, let $\mathbb{Z}^n \subseteq \bigwedge^n V^*$ be a subspace and let $\sharp \colon \mathbb{Z}^n \to V$ be a linear map satisfying $\iota_{\sharp(\alpha)}\beta = -\iota_{\sharp(\beta)}\alpha$ for every $\alpha, \beta \in \mathbb{Z}^n$. Then, defining

$$\mathcal{Z}^{n-1} := \iota_V \mathcal{Z}^n$$
, $\mathcal{Z}^{n-2} := \iota_V \mathcal{Z}^{n-1}$, ..., $\mathcal{Z}^1 := \iota_V \mathcal{Z}^2$,

there exists a unique family of maps $\sharp_a \colon \mathcal{Z}^a \to \bigwedge^{n+1-a} V / K_{n+1-a}$, with $a = 1, \ldots, n$, where $K_{n+1-a} = \{u \in \bigwedge^{n+1-a} V \mid \iota_u \mathcal{Z}^{n+1-a} = 0\}$, such that

- (i) $\iota_{\sharp_a(\alpha)}\beta = (-1)^{(n+1-a)(n+1-b)}\iota_{\sharp_b(\beta)}\alpha$, for every $\alpha \in \mathcal{Z}^a$ and $\beta \in \mathcal{Z}^b$, and
- (ii) $\sharp_1 = \sharp$.

Using Theorem 4.6 we conclude that if the contractions

$$\mathcal{Z}^a := \iota_{\bigvee_{n=a} M} \mathcal{Z}^n$$

define subbundles of $\bigwedge^a M$ for every $a = 1, \dots, n$, then there exists a unique family of vector bundle morphisms

$$\sharp_a \colon \mathcal{Z}^a \longrightarrow \bigvee_{n+1-a} M/K_{n+1-a}$$
,

where $K_p = \{u \in \bigvee_p M \mid \iota_u \mathcal{Z}^n = 0\}$, such that $\sharp_n = \sharp$ and $\iota_{\sharp_a(\alpha)}\beta = (-1)^{(n+1-a)(n+1-b)}\iota_{\sharp_b(\beta)}\alpha$, for every $\alpha \in \mathcal{Z}^a$ and every $\beta \in \mathcal{Z}^b$. This vector bundle maps are given explicitly by $\sharp_a(\iota_u \alpha) = \sharp(\alpha) \land u + K_{n+1-a}$, where $u \in \bigvee_{n-a} M$ and $\alpha \in \mathcal{Z}^n$. Notice that

$$K_p = \ker_p \Theta \cap \ker_p d\Theta$$
.

Remark 4.7. Using the \sharp morphisms defined above, we can choose canonical multivector fields X_{γ} and V_{γ} modulo $\ker_p d\Theta$ and $\ker_p \Theta$, respectively, for some given $\gamma \in \Omega^a_H(M)$. Indeed, first notice that given $\gamma \in \mathcal{Z}^a$, we can write $\gamma = \iota_{U_{\gamma}} \alpha$ for some $\alpha \in \mathcal{Z}^n$ and $U_{\gamma} \in \bigvee_{n-a} M$. Then, $\sharp_a(\gamma) = \sharp_n(\alpha) \wedge U_{\gamma} + K_{n+1-a}$. Hence,

$$\iota_{\sharp_{n}(\gamma)} d\Theta = \iota_{U_{\gamma}} \iota_{\sharp_{n}(\alpha)} d\Theta = \iota_{U_{\gamma}} \alpha + \mathcal{R}(\alpha) \iota_{U_{\gamma}} \Theta = \gamma + \mathcal{R}(\alpha) \iota_{U_{\gamma}} \Theta.$$

Notice that this means that U_{γ} is well defined modulo $\ker_p \Theta$. Therefore, given $\gamma \in \Omega^{n-p}_H(M)$, we can set

$$X_{\gamma} := (-1)^{p+1} \sharp_{n+1-p} (\mathrm{d}\gamma) + R_{\gamma},$$

where $R_{\gamma} \in \ker_p d\Omega$ satisfies $-\gamma = \iota_{R_{\gamma}}\Theta$, and take $V_{\gamma} = (-1)^{p+1}\mathcal{R}(\alpha)U_{\gamma}$ so that $\mathscr{L}_{X_{\alpha}}\Theta = \iota_{V_{\gamma}}\Theta$.

Now we are ready to state and prove the result that we aimed for, generalizing Eq. (4.1) for multicontact manifolds.

Theorem 4.8. The Jacobi bracket associated to a multicontact form can be written as

$$\{\alpha,\beta\} = (-1)^q d(\alpha \vee \beta) + (-1)^{(p-1)q} \iota_{\sharp_{n+1-q}(d\alpha)} d\beta + (-1)^{q+1} \iota_{V_{\beta}} \alpha - (-1)^{(p-1)q} \iota_{V_{\alpha}} \beta.$$
 (4.2)

Proof. Before proving the result, first notice that given an arbitrary conformal Hamiltonian form $\alpha \in \Omega_H^{n-p}(M)$, by the previous remark, we may take as multivector field

$$X_{\alpha} := (-1)^{p+1} \sharp_{n+1-p} (\mathrm{d}\alpha) + R_{\alpha},$$

where $R_{\alpha} \in \ker_p d\Theta$ satisfies $\alpha = -\iota_{R_{\alpha}}\Theta$. Now, we have

$$\begin{split} \{\alpha,\beta\} &= -\iota_{[X_{\alpha},X_{\beta}]}\Theta = -(-1)^{(p-1)q} \mathcal{L}_{X_{\alpha}} \iota_{X_{\beta}}\Theta + \iota_{X_{\beta}} \mathcal{L}_{X_{\alpha}}\Theta \\ &= (-1)^{(p-1)q} \left(\mathcal{L}_{X_{\alpha}} - \iota_{V_{\alpha}} \right) \beta = (-1)^{(p-1)q} \mathrm{d} \iota_{X_{\alpha}} \beta - (-1)^{(p-1)q+p} \iota_{X_{\alpha}} \mathrm{d}\beta - (-1)^{(p-1)q} \iota_{V_{\alpha}}\beta \\ &= (-1)^{q} \mathrm{d}(\alpha \vee \beta) - (-1)^{(p-1)q+1} \iota_{\sharp_{n+1-p}(\mathrm{d}\alpha)} \mathrm{d}\beta \\ &\quad - (-1)^{(p-1)q+p} \iota_{R_{\alpha}} \left((-1)^{q+1} \iota_{X_{\beta}} \mathrm{d}\Theta - \iota_{V_{\beta}}\Theta \right) - (-1)^{(p-1)q} \iota_{V_{\alpha}}\beta \\ &= (-1)^{q} \mathrm{d}(\alpha \vee \beta) + (-1)^{(p-1)q} \iota_{\sharp_{n+1-q}(\mathrm{d}\alpha)} \mathrm{d}\beta + (-1)^{q+1} \iota_{V_{\beta}}\alpha - (-1)^{(p-1)q} \iota_{V_{\alpha}}\beta, \end{split}$$

as we wanted to show.

Remark 4.9. When both α and β are *n*-forms, we have p = q = 1 so that both V_{α} and V_{β} are functions and Eq. (4.2) can be written as

$$\{\alpha, \beta\} = -d(\alpha \vee \beta) + \iota_{\mathsf{H}(\mathsf{d}\alpha)} d\beta + V_{\beta} \cdot \alpha - V_{\alpha} \cdot \beta.$$

Notice that in this case $V_{\alpha} = -\mathcal{R}(d\alpha)$ and $V_{\beta} = -\mathcal{R}(d\beta)$ so that we can write

$$\{\alpha, \beta\} = -\mathrm{d}(\alpha \vee \beta) + \iota_{\mathsf{H}(\mathrm{d}\alpha)}\mathrm{d}\beta - \mathcal{R}(\mathrm{d}\beta) \cdot \alpha + \mathcal{R}(\mathrm{d}\alpha) \cdot \beta,$$

generalizing Eq. (4.1).

5 Multicontact field equations

In this section we study a possible definition of multicontact field equations in a particular, but still quite general, subclass of multicontact manifolds. We look for equations that not only are dependent on the geometry, but also depend on a choice of Hamiltonian, as is usually done in symplectic and contact mechanics. In contact mechanics, the evolution equation of the motion determined by a Hamiltonian $H \in \mathscr{C}^{\infty}(M)$ on a contact manifold (M, η) is given by

$$\dot{g} = X_H(g) = \{H, g\} - R(H)g,$$
 (5.1)

where R is the Reeb vector field defined by η and $\{H,g\}$ denotes the usual Jacobi bracket. In our case, a Hamiltonian will be a suitable n-form $h \in \Omega^n(M)$, and the evolution of conformal Hamiltonian (n-1)-forms will be given by

$$\psi^*(d\alpha) = -\mathcal{R}(d\alpha) \cdot h - \iota_{X_{\alpha}} dh - (\iota_{\mathcal{R}} dh) \wedge \alpha$$

= $- (\mathcal{L}_{X_{\alpha}} + \mathcal{R}(\alpha)) h - (\iota_{\mathcal{R}} dh) \wedge \alpha + d (\iota_{X_{\alpha}} h),$

where \mathcal{R} is a finer choice of the Reeb multivector field, and $\psi: X \to M$ is a smooth map from an *n*-dimensional manifold to the multicontact manifold (M, Θ) . Using Remark 2.6, extending the domain of definition of brackets to *n*-forms, the previous equation may be interpreted as

$$\psi^*(d\alpha) = \{h, \alpha\} - (\iota_{\mathcal{R}} dh) \wedge \alpha + d(\iota_{X_{\alpha}} h) ,$$

which clearly generalizes Eq. (5.1).

All over this section we will assume that $\ker_1 d\Theta$ defines a vector subbundle of constant rank.

5.1 General multicontact Hamilton-de Donder-Weyl equations and variational multicontact manifolds

Throughout this section we assume n > 1.

Our first obstacle is to find the correct family of n-forms for which contraction by the Reeb multivector field is well-defined. Recall that \mathcal{R} is defined as the unique n-multivector field up to $\ker_n \Theta \cap \ker_n d\Theta$ such that

$$\iota_{\mathcal{R}}\Theta = 1$$
 and $\iota_{\mathcal{R}}d\Theta = 0$.

A finer definition can be made. Let \flat_{Θ} denote contraction by Θ , namely

$$b_{\Theta} \colon \ker_{1} d\Theta \longrightarrow \bigwedge^{n-1} M
v \longmapsto \iota_{v}\Theta.$$

Notice that it defines a monomorphism. Then, we have a vector bundle isomorphism

$$\ker_1 d\Theta \otimes \left(\bigvee_{n-1} M / (\operatorname{Im} \flat_{\Theta})^{\circ, n-1} \right) \xrightarrow{\flat_{\Theta} \otimes \operatorname{Id}} \operatorname{Im} \flat_{\Theta} \otimes \left(\bigvee_{n-1} M / (\operatorname{Im} \flat_{\Theta})^{\circ, n-1} \right).$$

Notice that $\bigvee_{n=1} M/(\operatorname{Im} \flat_{\Theta})^{\circ,n-1} \cong (\operatorname{Im} \flat_{\Theta})^*$ so that we can use the identification

$$\operatorname{Im} \flat_{\theta} \otimes \left(\bigvee_{n=1}^{N} M / (\operatorname{Im} \flat_{\Theta})^{\circ, n-1} \right) = \operatorname{Im} \flat_{\theta} \otimes (\operatorname{Im} \flat_{\Theta})^{*}.$$

Let $\widetilde{\mathcal{R}}$ denote the preimage by $\flat_{\Theta} \otimes \operatorname{Id}$ of 1/n times the identity on the right hand side space. We also have a well defined mapping

$$\phi \colon \ker_1 d\Theta \otimes \left(\bigvee_{n-1} M / (\operatorname{Im} \flat_{\Theta})^{\circ, n-1} \right) \longrightarrow \bigvee_n M / K_n$$

$$R \otimes \left(U + (\operatorname{Im} \flat_{\Theta})^{\circ, n-1} \right) \longmapsto R \wedge U + K_n,$$

where $K_n = \ker_n \Theta \cap \ker_n d\Theta$, since $\ker_1 d\Theta \wedge (\operatorname{Im} \flat_{\Theta})^{\circ, n-1} \subseteq K_n$.

Proposition 5.1. We have $\phi(\widetilde{\mathcal{R}}) = R$.

Proof. Let R_i denote a basis for $\ker_1 d\Theta$ and define $\alpha_i := \iota_{R_i}\Theta$. Then, the identity on

$$\operatorname{Im} \flat_{\Theta} \otimes \left(\bigvee_{n-1} M / (\operatorname{Im} \flat_{\Theta})^{\circ, n-1} \right) = \operatorname{Im} \flat_{\Theta} \otimes (\operatorname{Im} \flat_{\Theta})^{*}.$$

is given by $\alpha_i \otimes u^i$, where u^i is a class of multivectors satisfying $\iota_{u^j}\alpha_i = \delta_i^j$. Then, $\widetilde{\mathcal{R}} = \frac{1}{n}R_i \otimes u^i$ and $\phi(\widetilde{\mathcal{R}}) = \frac{1}{n}R_i \wedge u^i$ which clearly satisfies

$$\iota_{\phi(\widetilde{\mathcal{R}})}\mathrm{d}\Theta=0\qquad\text{and}\qquad\iota_{\phi(\widetilde{\mathcal{R}})}\Theta=1\,.$$

In order for the contraction with $\widetilde{\mathcal{R}}$ to be well defined, the subbundle of $\bigwedge^n M$ on which Hamiltonians will take values has to be defined as the space of *n*-forms that vanish when contracted with an element of $(\operatorname{Im} \flat_{\Theta})^{\circ,n-1}$ or, equivalently:

Definition 5.2. Define the **Hamiltonian subbundle** $\mathcal{H} \subseteq \bigwedge^n M$ as

$$\mathcal{H} = \left\{ h \in \bigwedge^{n} M \mid \iota_{TM} h \subseteq \operatorname{Im} \flat_{\Theta} \right\}.$$

A **Hamiltonian** is a section $h \in \Gamma(\mathcal{H})$, that is, an *n*-form h such that $\iota_{TM} h \subseteq \operatorname{Im} \flat_{\Theta}$.

Now, let $h \in \Gamma(\mathcal{H})$ be a Hamiltonian. We want to evaluate $\iota_{\widetilde{\mathcal{R}}} dh$, where the contraction is obtained with any representative of $\widetilde{\mathcal{R}}$ in $\ker_1 d\Theta \otimes \bigwedge_{n-1} M$.

Proposition 5.3. Contraction by $\widetilde{\mathcal{R}}$ is well defined if and only if $\iota_{\ker_1 d\Theta} dh \subseteq \mathcal{H}$.

Proof. If $\iota_{\ker_1 d\Theta} dh \subseteq \mathcal{H}$, it is clear, since \mathcal{H} is defined so that contraction by elements of $\bigvee_n M/(\operatorname{Im} \flat_{\Theta})^{n-1}$ is well defined. Conversely, if there is a vector $R \in \ker_1 d\Theta$ such that $\iota_R dh \notin \mathcal{H}$, then there is an element $u \in (\operatorname{Im} \flat_{\Theta})^{\circ, n-1}$ such that $\iota_u \iota_R dh \neq 0$, and therefore, contraction by $\widetilde{\mathcal{R}}$ is not well defined.

Therefore, in order to write field equations for a Hamiltonian, Proposition 5.3 must hold.

Definition 5.4. A Hamiltonian $h \in \Gamma(\mathcal{H})$ is called a good Hamiltonian if $\iota_{\ker_1 d\Theta} dh \subseteq \mathcal{H}$.

For a good Hamiltonian, a fundamental object is the dissipation 1-form which is defined as

$$\sigma_h := n \cdot \iota_{\widetilde{\mathcal{R}}} dh$$
.

Then, we can define the **Hamilton–de Donder–Weyl** equations for a map $\psi: X \to M$, where X is and n-dimensional manifold, as

$$\psi^*(\Theta + h) = 0$$
 and $\psi^* \iota_{\xi}(d + \sigma_h \wedge)(\Theta + h) = 0$, $\forall \xi \in \mathfrak{X}(M)$.

Theorem 5.5. Let $h \in \Gamma(\mathcal{H})$ be a good Hamiltonian, let $\alpha \in \Omega^{n-1}_H(M)$ be a conformal Hamiltonian form and let $\psi \colon X \to M$ be a solution of the Hamilton-de Donder-Weyl equations defined by h. Then

$$\psi^*(\mathrm{d}\alpha) = \psi^*\left(-\mathcal{R}(\mathrm{d}\alpha)h - \iota_{X_\alpha}\mathrm{d}h - \sigma_h \wedge \alpha + \sigma_h \wedge \iota_{X_\alpha}h\right).$$

Proof. Indeed, we know that $\psi^* \iota_{\xi}(d + \sigma_h \wedge)(\Theta + h) = 0$, for every $\xi \in \mathfrak{X}(M)$. Let $\xi = X_{\alpha}$, where X_{α} is a vector field satisfying

$$\iota_{X_{\alpha}}\Theta = -\alpha$$
 and $\iota_{X_{\alpha}}d\Theta = d\alpha - \mathcal{R}(d\alpha)\Theta$.

Then, we obtain

$$\psi^* \left(d\alpha - \mathcal{R}(d\alpha)\Theta + \iota_{X_\alpha} dh + \sigma_h(X_\alpha)\Theta + \sigma_h \wedge \alpha + \sigma_h(X_\alpha)h - \sigma_h \wedge \iota_{X_\alpha} h \right) = 0$$

which, using that $\psi^*\Theta = -\psi^*h$, implies

$$\psi^*(\mathrm{d}\alpha + \mathcal{R}(\mathrm{d}\alpha)h + \iota_{X_\alpha}\mathrm{d}h + \sigma_h \wedge \alpha - \sigma_h \wedge \iota_{X_\alpha}h) = 0,$$

finishing the proof.

Corollary 5.6. Under the hypotheses of Theorem 5.5, if X_{α} takes values in $(\operatorname{Im} \flat_{\Theta})^{\circ,1}$, we have

$$\psi^*(d\alpha) = \psi^* \left(-\mathcal{R}(d\alpha)h - \iota_{X_\alpha} dh - \sigma_h \wedge \alpha \right) .$$

Proof. Clearly, since h takes values in \mathcal{H} , which is defined as the subbundle of forms that vanish when contracted by an element of $(\operatorname{Im} \flat_{\Theta})^{\circ,1}$, so that $\iota_{X_{\alpha}} h = 0$.

A natural question to ask is what are the conditions that guarantee that every possible choice of Hamiltonian is a good Hamiltonian. Consider $h \in \Gamma(\mathcal{H})$, $R \in \ker_1 d\Theta$ and $v \in TM$. Abusing of notation, let us denote by R and v extensions to global vector fields. Then, $\iota_R dh$ takes values in \mathcal{H} if and only if $\iota_v \iota_R dh$ takes values in $\operatorname{Im} \flat_{\Theta}$. We have the following

$$\iota_{v}\iota_{R}dh = \iota_{v}\mathscr{L}_{R}h - \iota_{v}d\iota_{R}h = \mathscr{L}_{R}\iota_{v}h - \iota_{[R,v]}h - \iota_{v}d\iota_{R}h.$$

Clearly, by definition, $\iota_{[R,v]}h$ takes values in $\operatorname{Im} \flat_{\Theta}$. This implies that $\mathscr{L}_R \iota_v h - \iota_v \operatorname{d} \iota_R h$ measures the extent to which h fails to be a good Hamiltonian. Define

$$\gamma_{\Theta} \colon \Gamma(\mathcal{H}) \times \Gamma(\ker_{1} d\Theta) \times \mathfrak{X}(M) \longrightarrow \Omega^{n-1}(M) / \Gamma(\operatorname{Im} \flat_{\Theta})$$

$$(h, R, v) \longmapsto \mathcal{L}_{R} \iota_{v} h - \iota_{v} d\iota_{R} h .$$

This map is $\mathscr{C}^{\infty}(M)$ -linear in both R and v but, unfortunately, fails to be $\mathscr{C}^{\infty}(M)$ -linear in h, in general. Therefore, it induces a map (which, abusing of notation, is denoted by γ_{Θ} as well)

$$\gamma_{\Theta} \colon \Gamma(\mathcal{H}) \times (\ker_1 d\Theta \otimes TM) \longrightarrow \bigwedge^{n-1} M / \operatorname{Im} \flat_{\Theta},$$

so that we have the following.

Corollary 5.7. Let (M,Θ) be a multicontact manifold. Then, every $h \in \Gamma(\mathcal{H})$ is a good Hamiltonian if and only if γ_{Θ} vanishes identically.

Although γ_{Θ} can be difficult to compute in complete generality, if we restrict the study to a particular subclass of multicontact manifolds, γ_{Θ} induces a tensor which is much easier to manage.

Definition 5.8. A multicontact manifold (M,Θ) is called variational if

$$\iota_{\bigwedge^2(\ker_1 d\Theta)}\Theta = 0.$$

Proposition 5.9. Let (M,Θ) be a variational multicontact manifold and $h \in \Gamma(\mathcal{H})$. Then, $\iota_{\ker_1 d\Theta} h = 0$.

Proof. Indeed, let $v \in TM$ and $R \in \ker_1 d\Theta$. Then,

$$\iota_v \iota_R h = -\iota_R \iota_v h = -\iota_R \iota_{R'} \Theta,$$

for certain $R' \in \ker_1 d\Theta$. Now, since Θ is variational, $\iota_{R \wedge R'} \Theta = 0$, which finishes the proof. \square

Proposition 5.9 implies that we may write

$$\gamma_{\Theta}(h, R, v) = \mathcal{L}_R \iota_v h = \iota_R \mathrm{d}\iota_v h$$

and, now, it is $\mathscr{C}^{\infty}(M)$ -linear on every component so that it induces a vector bundle map

$$\gamma_{\Theta} \colon \mathcal{H} \otimes \ker_1 d\Theta \otimes TM \longrightarrow \bigwedge^{n-1} M / \operatorname{Im} \flat_{\Theta}.$$

However, we can obtain a much simpler tensor that also measures the extent to which Hamiltonians fail to be good Hamiltonians. Indeed, notice that $\iota_v h = \iota_{R'} \Theta$, for some $R' \in \ker_1 d\Theta$ and we may write $\gamma_{\Theta}(h, R, v) = \iota_R d\iota_{R'} \Theta$. This induces the following definition

Definition 5.10. Let (M, Θ) be a variational multicontact manifold. Then, its **distortion** is defined as the following map

$$C_{\Theta} \colon \Gamma(\ker_1 d\Theta) \otimes \Gamma(\ker_1 d\Theta) \longrightarrow \Omega^{n-1}(M)/\Gamma(\operatorname{Im} \flat_{\Theta})$$

$$R \otimes R' \longmapsto \iota_R d\iota_{R'} \Theta.$$

Proposition 5.11. For a variational multicontact manifold, C_{Θ} defines a symmetric vector bundle map

$$C_{\Theta} \colon \ker_1 d\Theta \otimes \ker_1 d\Theta \longrightarrow \bigwedge^{n-1} M / \operatorname{Im} \flat_{\Theta}.$$

Proof. It is clearly $\mathscr{C}^{\infty}(M)$ -linear on its first component. Therefore, it suffices to show that it is symmetric to conclude the result. Indeed,

$$\iota_{R} d\iota_{R'} \Theta = \iota_{R} \mathcal{L}_{R'} \Theta - \iota_{R} \iota_{R'} d\Theta = \iota_{R} \mathcal{L}_{R'} \Theta$$
$$= \mathcal{L}_{R'} \iota_{R} \Theta - \iota_{[R',R]} \Theta$$
$$= \iota_{R'} d\iota_{R} \Theta - \iota_{[R',R]} \Theta.$$

Notice that [R', R] takes values in $\ker_1 d\Theta$, and so $\iota_{[R',R]}\Theta$ takes values in $\operatorname{Im} \flat_{\Theta}$, concluding that C_{Θ} is symmetric and finishing the proof.

Concluding, we have:

Theorem 5.12. Let (M, Θ) be a variational multicontact manifold such that $\ker_1 d\Theta$ has constant rank. Then, every Hamiltonian is a good Hamiltonian if and only if its distortion vanishes.

5.2 Dissipated forms

In contact dynamics, a fundamental concept is that of dissipated quantity [23], which is a function $g \in \mathscr{C}^{\infty}(M)$ satisfying $\dot{g} = -R(H)g$. Recently, in [33], the concept was generalized to the multicontact formulation of field theories.

Definition 5.13. Let (M, Θ) be a multicontact manifold and let $h \in \Gamma(\mathcal{H})$ be a good Hamiltonian. Then, a form $\alpha \in \Omega^a_H(M)$ is said to be **dissipated**, if

$$\psi^* d\alpha = -\sigma_h \wedge \alpha \,,$$

for every ψ solution of the multicontact Hamilton-de Donder-Weyl equations determined by h.

Remark 5.14. The definition of dissipated form that can be found in [33] is not quite the same as Definition 5.13. Indeed, in the cited article, a differential form $\alpha \in \Omega^a(M)$ is called dissipated if $\psi^*(\overline{d}\alpha) = 0$, for every map $\psi \colon X \to M$ satisfying $\psi^*\Theta = 0$ and $\psi^*\iota_{\xi}\overline{d}\Theta = 0$, where $\xi \in \mathfrak{X}(M)$ is an arbitrary vector field and $\overline{d}\alpha = d\alpha + \sigma \wedge \alpha$, σ denoting a particular 1-form, which only depends on the multicontact form Θ . This last form is also called the dissipation form, but does not completely correspond to the notion introduced in this text (see [11, 12]).

In our setting, the dissipation form depends upon a choice of Hamiltonian, h, and this choice induces an operator $\overline{\mathrm{d}}_h\alpha=\mathrm{d}\alpha+\sigma_h\wedge\alpha$, which allows us to write the condition for a form to be dissipated as $\psi^*\left(\overline{\mathrm{d}}_h\alpha\right)=0$, for every solution of Hamilton-de Donder-Weyl equations ψ or, equivalently, for any smooth map $\psi\colon X\to M$ satisfying $\psi^*\left(\Theta+h\right)=0$ and $\psi^*\iota_{\xi}\overline{\mathrm{d}}_h\left(\Theta+h\right)=0$. Hence, we recover the definition presented in [33] if we work with the form $\Theta_h=\Theta+h$, instead of interpreting Θ to fix geometry and h to define the dynamics. It can then be shown that σ_h is the dissipation form associated to Θ_h in the sense of [11, 12].

In the case of Hamiltonian forms, we can obtain a condition to identify dissipated forms. Indeed, using Theorem 5.5 we have the following

Proposition 5.15. Let $\alpha \in \Omega_H^{n-1}(M)$. Then, if

$$-\left(\mathscr{L}_{X_{\alpha}} + \mathcal{R}(\mathrm{d}\alpha)\right)h + \left(\mathrm{d} + \sigma_{h}\wedge\right)\iota_{X_{\alpha}}h = 0,$$

then α is a dissipated (n-1)-form.

Remark 5.16. Notice that if X_{α} takes values in $(\operatorname{Im} \flat_{\Theta})^{\circ,1}$, then $\iota_{X_{\alpha}} h = 0$ and therefore, the equation in Proposition 5.15 simplifies to $-(\mathscr{L}_{X_{\alpha}} + \mathcal{R}(\mathrm{d}\alpha)) h = 0$.

A natural question to ask is if dissipated forms are closed under Jacobi bracket. As we know the vector field associated to $\{\alpha, \beta\}$ is $[X_{\alpha}, X_{\beta}]$. Also, a quick computation shows $\mathcal{R}(d\{\alpha, \beta\}) = X_{\alpha}(\mathcal{R}(d\beta)) - X_{\beta}(\mathcal{R}(d\alpha))$. Therefore, after a simple, but rather rather lengthy computation, we get

$$-\left(\mathcal{L}_{[X_{\alpha},X_{\beta}]} + \mathcal{R}(\mathrm{d}\{\alpha,\beta\})\right)h + (\mathrm{d} + \sigma_{h}\wedge)\iota_{[X_{\alpha},X_{\beta}]}h =$$

$$= \left(\mathcal{L}_{X_{\alpha}} + \mathcal{R}(\mathrm{d}\alpha)\right)\left(-\left(\mathcal{L}_{X_{\beta}} + \mathcal{R}(\mathrm{d}\beta)\right)h + (\mathrm{d} + \sigma_{h}\wedge)\iota_{X_{\beta}}h\right)$$

$$-\left(\mathcal{L}_{X_{\beta}} + \mathcal{R}(\mathrm{d}\beta)\right)\left(-\left(\mathcal{L}_{X_{\alpha}} + \mathcal{R}(\mathrm{d}\alpha)\right)h + (\mathrm{d} + \sigma_{h}\wedge)\iota_{X_{\alpha}}h\right)$$

$$+\left(\mathrm{d} + \sigma_{h}\right)\mathcal{L}_{X_{\alpha}\wedge X_{\beta}}h + \mathcal{L}_{X_{\beta}}\sigma_{h}\wedge\iota_{X_{\alpha}}h - \mathcal{L}_{X_{\alpha}}\sigma_{h}\wedge\iota_{X_{\beta}}h$$

$$+\mathcal{R}(\mathrm{d}\beta)(\mathrm{d} + \sigma_{h})\iota_{X_{\alpha}}h - \mathcal{R}(\mathrm{d}\alpha)(\mathrm{d} + \sigma_{h})\iota_{X_{\beta}}h.$$

As a corollary, we obtain the following:

Corollary 5.17. Let α and β be conformal Hamiltonian (n-1)-forms such that

$$-\left(\mathscr{L}_{X_{\alpha}}+\mathcal{R}(\mathrm{d}\alpha)\right)h=0 \quad and \quad -\left(\mathscr{L}_{X_{\beta}}+\mathcal{R}(\mathrm{d}\beta)\right)h=0.$$

If both X_{α} and X_{β} take values in $(\operatorname{Im} \flat_{\Theta})^{\circ,1}$, then $\{\alpha,\beta\}$ is a dissipated form.

Proof. It is enough to notice that all terms vanish from the last expression and to use Proposition 5.15.

6 Dissipative field theories

In this section we apply the constructions developed along this paper to the case of dissipative field theories.

Let $\pi: Y \to X$ be a fiber bundle (or, more generally, a fibration). The extended phase space of action dependent field theories is defined as (see [11, 12, 25])

$$M:=\bigwedge_2^nY\oplus\bigwedge^{n-1}X\,,$$

where $\bigwedge_{2}^{n} Y$ denotes the 2-horizontal *n*-forms on Y and $\bigwedge_{2}^{n-1} X$ denotes the (n-1)-forms on X. We can find a canonical multicontact form on M given by

$$\Theta = d\Theta_X^{n-1} - \Theta_Y^n \,,$$

where Θ^n_Y and Θ^{n-1}_X denote the canonical Liouville forms on $\bigwedge_2^n Y$ and $\bigwedge^{n-1} X$, respectively. If (x^μ, y^i) denote fibered coordinates on $\pi \colon Y \to X$, then we have canonical coordinates $(x^\mu, y^i, p, p_i^\mu, s^\mu)$ on M. Indeed, any element in $\bigwedge_2^n Y$ (respectively, in $\bigwedge_{i=1}^{n-1} X$) can be locally written as

$$p d^n x + p_i^{\mu} dy^i \wedge d^{n-1} x_{\mu}$$
, (respectively $s^{\mu} d^{n-1} x_{\mu}$),

where $d^n x = dx^1 \wedge \cdots \wedge dx^n$ and $d^{n-1} x_{\mu} = i_{\frac{\partial}{\partial x^{\mu}}} d^n x$.

The coordinate expression of the canonical multicontact form and its exterior differential under this choice read

$$\Theta = \mathrm{d} s^\mu \wedge \mathrm{d}^{n-1} x_\mu - p \mathrm{d}^n x - p_i^\mu \mathrm{d} y^i \wedge \mathrm{d}^{n-1} x_\mu \,, \qquad \mathrm{d} \Theta = -\mathrm{d} p \wedge \mathrm{d}^n x - \mathrm{d} p_i^\mu \wedge \mathrm{d} y^i \wedge \mathrm{d}^{n-1} x_\mu \,.$$

Therefore, we have

$$\ker_1\Theta = \left\langle \frac{\partial}{\partial y^i} - p_i^\mu \frac{\partial}{\partial s^\mu} \,, \frac{\partial}{\partial p_i^\mu} \right\rangle \qquad \text{and} \qquad \ker_1 \mathrm{d}\Theta = \left\langle \frac{\partial}{\partial s^\mu} \right\rangle \,,$$

which implies that Θ defines a multicontact structure.

As we showed in Section 5, the best behaved conformal Hamiltonian forms are those whose infinitesimal conformal transformation takes values in $(\operatorname{Im} \flat_{\Theta})^{\circ,1}$. In our case,

$$\flat_{\theta} \colon \ker_1 d\Theta \longrightarrow \bigwedge^{n-1} M$$

and has image $\langle d^{n-1}x_{\mu}\rangle$, so that $\operatorname{Im}\flat_{\Theta}$ is the space of horizontal forms with respect to the fibered structure $M \to X$. In particular, $(\operatorname{Im}\flat)^{\circ,1}$ is the vertical distribution. Let us study those Hamiltonian forms under the previous multicontact structure with vertical infinitesimal conformal transformation with respect to the projection $M \to X$.

Proposition 6.1. Let n > 1 and $X \in \mathfrak{X}(M)$ be a vertical infinitesimal conformal transformation. Then, its local expression is

$$\begin{split} X &= \left(F s^{\mu} + G^{\mu} - p_{j}^{\mu} \frac{\partial G^{\nu}}{\partial p_{j}^{\nu}} \right) \frac{\partial}{\partial s^{\mu}} - \frac{\partial G^{\mu}}{\partial p_{i}^{\mu}} \frac{\partial}{\partial y^{i}} \\ &\quad + \left(\frac{\partial F}{\partial y^{i}} s^{\mu} + \frac{\partial G^{\mu}}{\partial y^{i}} + F p_{i}^{\mu} \right) \frac{\partial}{\partial p_{i}^{\mu}} + \left(\frac{\partial F}{\partial x^{\mu}} s^{\mu} + \frac{\partial G^{\mu}}{\partial x^{\mu}} + F p \right) \frac{\partial}{\partial p} \,, \end{split}$$

where F is independent of s^{μ} , p and p_{i}^{μ} , and G^{μ} satisfies $\frac{\partial G^{\mu}}{\partial p_{i}^{\nu}} = \delta^{\mu}_{\nu} \frac{\partial G^{\alpha}}{\partial p_{i}^{\alpha}}$.

Proof. Let

$$X = A^{\mu} \frac{\partial}{\partial s^{\mu}} + B^{i} \frac{\partial}{\partial y^{i}} + C^{\mu}_{i} \frac{\partial}{\partial p^{\mu}_{i}} + D \frac{\partial}{\partial p} .$$

Then,

$$\begin{split} \mathrm{d}\iota_X\Theta &= \mathrm{d}\left(A^\mu\mathrm{d}^{n-1}x_\mu - p_i^\mu B^i\mathrm{d}^{n-1}x_\mu\right) \\ &= \left(\frac{\partial A^\mu}{\partial x^\mu} - p_\mu^i \frac{\partial B^i}{\partial x^\mu}\right)\mathrm{d}^n x + \frac{\partial}{\partial y^i}\left(A^\mu - p_j^\mu B^j\right)\mathrm{d} y^i \wedge \mathrm{d}^{n-1}x_\mu \\ &\quad + \frac{\partial}{\partial p_i^\nu}\left(A^\mu - p_j^\mu B^j\right)\mathrm{d} p_i^\nu \wedge \mathrm{d}^{n-1}x_\mu + \frac{\partial}{\partial p}\left(A^\mu - p_j^\mu B^j\right)\mathrm{d} p \wedge \mathrm{d}^{n-1}x_\mu \\ &\quad + \frac{\partial}{\partial s^\nu}\left(A^\mu - p_j^\mu B^j\right)\mathrm{d} s^\nu \wedge \mathrm{d}^{n-1}x_\mu \,, \end{split}$$

and

$$\iota_X d\Theta = -D d^n x - C_i^{\mu} dy^i \wedge d^{n-1} x_{\mu} + B^i dp_i^{\mu} \wedge d^{n-1} x_{\mu},$$

so that, if X defines an infinitesimal conformal transformation, $\mathscr{L}_X\Theta = f \cdot \Theta$ for certain $f \in \mathscr{C}^{\infty}(M)$ and we must have

$$\begin{split} \left(\frac{\partial A^{\mu}}{\partial x^{\mu}} - p_{\mu}^{i} \frac{\partial B^{i}}{\partial x^{\mu}} - D\right) \mathrm{d}^{n}x + \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial y^{i}} \left(A^{\mu} - p_{j}^{\mu} B^{j}\right) - C_{i}^{\mu}\right) \mathrm{d}y^{i} \wedge \mathrm{d}^{n-1}x_{\mu} \\ + \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial p_{i}^{\nu}} \left(A^{\mu} - p_{j}^{\mu} B^{j}\right) + \delta_{\nu}^{\mu} B^{i}\right) \mathrm{d}p_{i}^{\nu} \wedge \mathrm{d}^{n-1}x_{\mu} + \frac{\partial}{\partial p} \left(A^{\mu} - p_{j}^{\mu} B^{j}\right) \mathrm{d}p \wedge \mathrm{d}^{n-1}x_{\mu} \\ + \frac{\partial}{\partial s^{\nu}} \left(A^{\mu} - p_{j}^{\mu} B^{j}\right) \mathrm{d}s^{\nu} \wedge \mathrm{d}^{n-1}x_{\mu} = \\ = f \left(\mathrm{d}s^{\mu} \wedge \mathrm{d}^{n-1}x_{\mu} - p\mathrm{d}^{n}x - p_{i}^{\mu} \mathrm{d}y^{i} \wedge \mathrm{d}^{n-1}x_{\mu}\right). \end{split}$$

Contracting with $\frac{1}{n} \frac{\partial}{\partial s^{\mu}} \wedge \frac{\partial^{n-1}}{\partial^{n-1} x_{\mu}}$ both sides of the equality, we obtain

$$f = \frac{1}{n} \frac{\partial}{\partial s^{\mu}} \left(A^{\mu} - p_j^{\mu} B^j \right) .$$

Comparing the terms with $\mathrm{d} s^{\nu}$, we conclude that $A^{\mu} - p_{j}^{\mu} B^{j} = F s^{\mu} + G^{\mu}$, where F and G are independent of s^{ν} . In particular, $C_{i}^{\mu} = \frac{\partial F}{\partial y^{i}} s^{\mu} + \frac{\partial G^{\mu}}{\partial y^{i}} + p_{i}^{\mu} F$ and $D = \frac{\partial F}{\partial x^{\mu}} s^{\mu} + \frac{\partial G^{\mu}}{\partial x^{\mu}} + p F$. Since the term with dp must vanish, both F and G^{μ} are independent of p and since the term with dp_{i}^{ν} must vanish we arrive at the condition

$$\frac{\partial F}{\partial p_i^{\nu}} s^{\mu} + \frac{\partial G^{\mu}}{\partial p_i^{\nu}} = -\delta^{\mu}_{\nu} B^i.$$

Taking $\nu \neq \mu$, we conclude that F is independent of p_i^{μ} so we are left with the equation $\frac{\partial G^{\mu}}{\partial p_{\nu}^{\nu}} = -\delta_{\nu}^{\mu} B^i$, proving the result.

Then, using Proposition 6.1, we conclude the following

Corollary 6.2. A Hamiltonian form $\alpha \in \Omega_H^{n-1}(M)$ with vertical infinitesimal conformal transformation has the following local expression:

$$\alpha = (-Fs^{\mu} - G^{\mu})d^{n-1}x_{\mu},$$

where F = F(x, y), and G^{μ} satisfies $\frac{\partial G^{\mu}}{\partial p_{\nu}^{\nu}} = \delta^{\mu}_{\nu} \frac{\partial G^{\alpha}}{\partial p_{\alpha}^{\alpha}}$.

Form	Infinitesimal conformal transformation	Conformal factor	
$s^{\mu} \mathrm{d}^{n-1} x_{\mu}$	$-s^{\mu}\frac{\partial}{\partial s^{\mu}} - p_{i}^{\mu}\frac{\partial}{\partial p_{i}^{\mu}} - p\frac{\partial}{\partial p}$	-1	
$y^i \mathrm{d}^{n-1} x_{\mu}$	$-y^irac{\partial}{\partial s^\mu}-rac{\partial}{\partial p_i^\mu}$	0	
$p_i^{\mu} \mathrm{d}^{n-1} x_{\mu}$	$rac{\partial}{\partial y^i}$	0	
${\mathrm{d}^{n-1}x_{\mu}}$	$-rac{\partial}{\partial s^{\mu}}$	0	

Table 1: Elementary examples of conformal Hamiltonian forms

Table 2: Jacobi brackets of the elementary examples

$\{\cdot,\cdot\}$	$s^{\nu} \mathrm{d}^{n-1} x_{\nu}$	$y^j \mathrm{d}^{n-1} x_{\nu}$	$p_j^{\nu} \mathrm{d}^{n-1} x_{\nu}$	$\mathrm{d}^{n-1}x_{\nu}$
$s^{\mu} \mathrm{d}^{n-1} x_{\mu}$	0	$y^j \mathrm{d}^{n-1} x_{\nu}$	0	$\mathrm{d}^{n-1}x_{\mu}$
$y^i \mathrm{d}^{n-1} x_{\mu}$	$-y^i \mathrm{d}^{n-1} x_{\mu}$	0	$\delta^i_j \mathrm{d}^{n-1} x_\nu$	0
$p_i^{\mu} \mathrm{d}^{n-1} x_{\mu}$	0	$-\delta_i^j \mathrm{d}^{n-1} x_\mu$	0	0
$\frac{1}{\mathrm{d}^{n-1}x_{\mu}}$	$-\mathrm{d}^{n-1}x_{\mu}$	0	0	0

In Table 1, the reader can find some elementary examples of conformal Hamiltonian forms, their associated infinitesimal conformal transformations, and conformal factor. The Jacobi brackets of each possible pair can be found in Table 2.

Now, our goal is to write the evolution of the previous Hamiltonian forms with a fixed Hamiltonian (and hence fixed dynamics) using the studied geometry. Intrinsically, a Hamiltonian is given by a *Hamiltonian section*

$$h: \bigwedge_{2}^{n} Y / \bigwedge_{1}^{n} Y \oplus \bigwedge_{1}^{n-1} X \longrightarrow M = \bigwedge_{2}^{n} Y \oplus \bigwedge_{1}^{n-1} X,$$

which then induces a multicontact structure on $\bigwedge_2^n Y / \bigwedge_1^n Y \oplus \bigwedge^{n-1} X$ using $\Theta_h = h^*\Theta$. As stated in the previous section, we prefer to work with the canonical multicontact structure on M and think of the Hamiltonian as $h = \tau^*\Theta_h - \Theta$, where $\tau \colon M \to \bigwedge_2^n Y / \bigwedge_1^n Y \oplus \bigwedge^{n-1} X$ denotes the projection, hence fixing the geometry. The canonical coordinates on $\bigwedge_2^n Y / \bigwedge_1^n Y \oplus \bigwedge^{n-1} X$ are $(x^\mu, y^i, p_i^\mu, s^\mu)$ and, hence, the local expression of the Hamiltonian section will be $p = -H(x^\mu, y^i, p_i^\mu, s^\mu)$, so that

$$\Theta_h = \mathrm{d} s^\mu \wedge \mathrm{d}^{n-1} x_\mu + H \mathrm{d}^n x - p_i^\mu \mathrm{d} y^i \wedge \mathrm{d}^{n-1} x_\mu \,,$$

and

$$\widetilde{h} = (p+H)d^n x.$$

This implies that h is a good Hamiltonian, in the sense of Section 5, so that it defines the following dynamics:

$$\psi^*(\Theta + h) = 0$$
 and $\psi^* \iota_{\xi}(d + \sigma_h \wedge)(\Theta + h) = 0$, $\forall \xi \in \mathfrak{X}(M)$,

where σ_h is the associated dissipation 1-form, which takes the expression $\sigma_h = \frac{\partial H}{\partial s^{\mu}} \mathrm{d}x^{\mu}$. To obtain the local expression of the Hamilton-de Donder-Weyl equations we will use Corollary 5.6 and the conformal Hamiltonian forms of the previous table. A quick calculation yields:

$$\psi^*(\mathrm{d}s^{\mu} \wedge \mathrm{d}^{n-1}x_{\mu}) = \psi^* \left(\left(p_i^{\mu} \frac{\partial H}{\partial p_i^{\mu}} - H \right) \mathrm{d}^n x \right),$$

$$\psi^*(\mathrm{d}y^i \wedge \mathrm{d}^{n-1}x_{\mu}) = \psi^* \left(\frac{\partial H}{\partial p_i^{\mu}} \mathrm{d}^n x \right),$$

$$\psi^*(\mathrm{d}p_i^{\mu} \wedge \mathrm{d}^{n-1}x_{\mu}) = \psi^* \left(- \left(\frac{\partial H}{\partial y^i} + \frac{\partial H}{\partial s^{\mu}} p_i^{\mu} \right) \mathrm{d}^n x \right).$$

In particular, if we look for sections $\psi \colon X \to M$, we obtain the so-called multicontact Hamilton–de Donder–Weyl equations for dissipated field theories [11, 22, 25]:

$$\frac{\partial s^{\mu}}{\partial x^{\mu}} = p_{i}^{\mu} \frac{\partial H}{\partial p_{i}^{\mu}} \,, \qquad \frac{\partial y^{i}}{\partial x^{\mu}} = \frac{\partial H}{\partial p_{i}^{\mu}} \,, \qquad \frac{\partial p_{i}^{\mu}}{\partial x^{\mu}} = -\left(\frac{\partial H}{\partial y^{i}} + \frac{\partial H}{\partial s^{\mu}} p_{i}^{\mu}\right) \,.$$

7 Conclusions and further work

In this article we defined and studied brackets induced by an arbitrary n-form, as well as the relation of these brackets with the usual bracket appearing in multisymplectic geometry through the process of multisymplectization (see Theorem 3.10). Finally, we computed the Jacobi bracket of some conformal Hamiltonian forms present in the multicontact formulation of action dependent field theories. The definition and properties of these bracket open a few possible directions for research:

- (i) With the introduction of the # morphism, one could do a preliminary classification of the submanifolds of a multicontact manifold, defining isotropic, coisotropic and Legendrian submanifolds (just as it is done in Jacobi manifolds is general). A study of these and some possible "Graded Jacobi structures" or "Higher Jacobi structures" would be of interest to understand the underlying structure of the brackets.
- (ii) Although we investigated a possible formulation of dynamics using the # and Reeb morphisms, an explicit description of the equations using Jacobi brackets would be of interest. This would allow for a description of reduction, both coisotropic and by symmetries.
- (iii) We also propose as a research topic the relation between the multicontact formulation of action dependent field theories and the contact infinite dimensional formulation using a space-time splitting. It should be the case that when integrated, the Jacobi bracket of (n-1)-forms recovers the usual Jacobi bracket of contact geometry.
- (iv) We want to compare the current definition of multicontact form with previous multicontact definitions, and try to obtain a multicontact structure from a given k-contact [22] or k-cocontact [32] (see similar results for multisymplectic forms and k-cosymplectic structures [16]).

Acknowledgments

We acknowledge financial support of the *Ministerio de Ciencia, Innovación y Universidades* (Spain), grants PID2021-125515NB-C21, PID2022-137909NB-C21, and RED2022-134301-T of AEI. M. de León also acknowledges financial support from the Severo Ochoa Programme for Centers of Excellence in R&D, CEX-2023-001347-S.

Conflict of interest

On behalf of all authors, the corresponding author states that there is no conflict of interest.

References

- [1] R. Abraham and J. E. Marsden. Foundations of mechanics, volume 364 of AMS Chelsea publishing. Benjamin/Cummings Pub. Co., New York, 2nd edition, 1978. 10.1090/chel/364.
- R. Abraham, J. E. Marsden, and T. Ratiu. Manifolds, Tensor Analysis and Applications, volume 75 of Applied Mathematical Sciences. Springer-Verlag, New York, 2nd edition, 1988. 10.1007/978-1-4612-1029-0.
- [3] V. I. Arnold. Mathematical Methods of Classical Mechanics, volume 60 of Graduate Texts in Mathematics. Springer, New York, 2nd edition, 1989. 10.1007/978-1-4757-1693-1.
- [4] C. Blacker. Polysymplectic reduction and the moduli space of flat connections. J. Phys. A: Math. Theor., 52(33):335201, 2019. 10.1088/1751-8121/ab2eed.
- [5] C. Blacker. Reduction of multisymplectic manifolds. Lett. Math. Phys., 111(64), 2021. 10.1007/s11005-021-01408-y.
- [6] H. Bursztyn, N. Martinez-Alba, and R. Rubio. On higher Dirac structures. Int. Math. Res. Not., 2019:1503-1542, 2017. 10.1093/imrn/rnx163.
- [7] M. Callies, Y. Frégier, C. Rogers, and M. Zambon. Homotopy moment maps. Adv. Math., 303:954–1043, 2016. 10.1016/j.aim.2016.08.012.
- [8] F. Cantrijn, A. Ibort, and M. de León. Hamiltonian structures on multisymplectic manifolds. *Rend. Sem. Mat. Univ. Pol. Torino*, **54**(3):225-236, 1996. http://www.seminariomatematico.polito.it/rendiconti/cartaceo/54-3/225.pdf.
- [9] F. Cantrijn, L. A. Ibort, and M. de León. On the geometry of multisymplectic manifolds. *J. Austral. Math. Soc. Ser. A*, **66**(3):303–330, 1999. 10.1017/S1446788700036636.
- [10] M. de León, J. Gaset, X. Gràcia, M. C. Muñoz-Lecanda, and X. Rivas. Time-dependent contact mechanics. *Monatsh. Math.*, 201:1149–1183, 2023. 10.1007/s00605-022-01767-1.
- [11] M. de León, J. Gaset, M. C. Muñoz-Lecanda, X. Rivas, and N. Román-Roy. Multicontact formulation for non-conservative field theories. J. Phys. A: Math. Theor., 56(2):025201, 2023. 10.1088/1751-8121/acb575.
- [12] M. de León, J. Gaset, M. C. Muñoz-Lecanda, X. Rivas, and N. Román-Roy. Practical introduction to action-dependent field theories. Fortschr. Phys., 2025. 10.1002/prop.70000.
- [13] M. de León and R. Izquierdo-López. Graded Poisson and graded Dirac structures. *J. Math. Phys.*, **66**(2):022901, 2025. 10.1063/5.0243128.
- [14] M. de León and M. Lainz Valcázar. A Review on Contact Hamiltonian and Lagrangian Systems. Rev. Real Acad. Cienc. Can., XXXI:1–46, 2019. 2011.05579.
- [15] M. de León and M. Laínz-Valcázar. Contact Hamiltonian systems. J. Math. Phys., 60(10):102902, 2019. 10.1063/1.5096475.
- [16] M. de León, E. Merino, J. A. Oubiña, P. R. Rodrigues, and M. Salgado. Hamiltonian systems on k-cosymplectic manifolds. J. Math. Phys., 39(2):876, 1998. 10.1063/1.532358.
- [17] M. de León and P. R. Rodrigues. Generalized Classical Mechanics and Field Theory, volume 112 of Mathematics Studies. North Holland, 1985.
- [18] M. de León, M. Salgado, and S. Vilariño. Methods of Differential Geometry in Classical Field Theories. World Scientific, 2015. 10.1142/9693.
- [19] J. de Lucas, X. Rivas, and T. Sobczak. Foundations on k-contact geometry. 2409.11001, 2024.

- [20] M. Forger and L. G. Gomes. Multisymplectic and polysymplectic structures on fiber bundles. Rev. Math. Phys., 25(9):1350018, 2013. 10.1142/S0129055X13500189.
- [21] M. Forger, C. Paufler, and H. Römer. The Poisson bracket for Poisson forms in multisymplectic field theory. *Rev. Math. Phys.*, **15**(7):705–743, 2003. 10.1142/S0129055X03001734.
- [22] J. Gaset, X. Gràcia, M. C. Muñoz-Lecanda, X. Rivas, and N. Román-Roy. A contact geometry framework for field theories with dissipation. *Ann. Phys.*, 414:168092, 2020. 10.1016/j.aop.2020.168092.
- [23] J. Gaset, X. Gràcia, M. C. Muñoz-Lecanda, X. Rivas, and N. Román-Roy. New contributions to the Hamiltonian and Lagrangian contact formalisms for dissipative mechanical systems and their symmetries. Int. J. Geom. Methods Mod. Phys., 17(6):2050090, 2020. 10.1142/S0219887820500905.
- [24] J. Gaset, X. Gràcia, M. C. Muñoz-Lecanda, X. Rivas, and N. Román-Roy. A k-contact Lagrangian formulation for nonconservative field theories. Rep. Math. Phys., 87(3):347–368, 2021. 10.1016/S0034-4877(21)00041-0.
- [25] J. Gaset, M. Lainz, A. Mas, and X. Rivas. The Herglotz variational principle for dissipative field theories. Geom. Mech., 1(2):153–178, 2024. 10.1142/S2972458924500060.
- [26] F. Gay-Balmaz, J. C. Marrero, and N. Martínez-Alba. A new canonical affine bracket formulation of Hamiltonian classical field theories of first order. Rev. Real Acad. Cienc. Exactas Fis. Nat. - A: Mat., 118(3):103, 2024. 10.1007/s13398-024-01603-1.
- [27] M. Gerstenhaber. The Cohomology Structure of an Associative Ring. *Ann. Math.*, **78**(2):267–288, 1963. 10.2307/1970343.
- [28] G. Giotopoulos and H. Sati. Field theory via higher geometry I: smooth sets of fields. *J. Geom. Phys.*, **213**:105462, 2025. 10.1016/j.geomphys.2025.105462.
- [29] K. Grabowski, J. Grabowski, M. Kuś, and G. Marmo. Contactifications: a Lagrangian description of compact Hamiltonian systems*. J. Phys. A: Math. Theor., 57(39):395204, 2024. 10.1088/1751-8121/ad75d8.
- [30] P. Libermann and C.-M. Marle. Symplectic geometry and analytical mechanics, volume 35 of Mathematics and Its Applications. Springer Dordrecht, 1987. 10.1007/978-94-009-3807-6.
- [31] C.-M. Marle. The Schouten-Nijenhuis bracket and interior products. J. Geom. Phys., **23**(3–4):350–359, 1997. 10.1016/S0393-0440(97)80009-5.
- [32] X. Rivas. Nonautonomous k-contact field theories. J. Math. Phys., $\mathbf{64}(3)$:033507, 2023. 10.1063/5.0131110.
- [33] X. Rivas, N. Román-Roy, and B. M. Zawora. Symmetries and Noether's theorem for multicontact field theories. 2503.03463, 2025.
- [34] L. Ryvkin and T. Wurzbacher. An invitation to multisymplectic geometry. J. Geom. Phys., 142:9–36, 2019. 10.1016/j.geomphys.2019.03.006.
- [35] W. M. Tulczyjew. The Graded Lie Algebra of Multivector Fields and the Generalized Lie Derivative of Forms. Bull. Acad. Polon. Sci., Ser. Math. Astr. et Phys., 22(9):937–942, 1974.
- [36] I. Vaisman. Locally conformal symplectic manifolds. *Int. J. Math. Math. Sci.*, **8**:521–536, 1985. 10.1155/S0161171285000564.
- [37] I. Vaisman. Lectures on the Geometry of Poisson Manifolds, volume 118 of Progress in Mathematics. Birkhäuser Basel, 1994. 10.1007/978-3-0348-8495-2.
- [38] L. Vitagliano. L_{∞} -algebras from multicontact geometry. Diff. Geom. Appl., **39**:147–165, 2015. 10.1016/j.difgeo.2015.01.006.
- [39] M. Zambon. L_{∞} -algebras and higher analogues of Dirac sturctures and Courant albegroids. *J. Symplectic Geom.*, **10**:563–599, 2012. 10.4310/JSG.2012.v10.n4.a4.